

Second Malignancy Risk After Treatment of Hodgkin Lymphoma

26

Michael Schaapveld, David C. Hodgson, and Flora E. van Leeuwen

Contents

26.1	Introduction	429		
26.2	Methods of Assessing Second Cancer Risk	430		
26.3	Magnitude of the Risk Increase of Second Malignancy, Temporal Patterns, and Age Effects	433		
26.4	Contributors to Second Cancer Risk	439		
26.4.1	Radiation Therapy	439		
26.4.2	Chemotherapy	442		
26.4.3	Genetic Factors	444		
26.5	Risk of Selected Second Malignancies	445		
26.5.1	Risk Factors for Leukemia	445		
26.5.2	Risk Factors of Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma (NHL)	447		
26.5.3	Risk Factors for Breast Cancer	448		
26.5.4	Risk Factors for Lung Cancer	452		
26.6	Clinical Implications	454		
References				

M. Schaapveld · F. E. van Leeuwen (🖂) Department of Epidemiology, Netherlands Cancer Institute, Amsterdam, The Netherlands e-mail: m.schaapveld@nki.nl; f.v.leeuwen@nki.nl

D. C. Hodgson Department of Radiation Oncology, Princess Margaret Hospital, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada e-mail: David.Hodgson@rmp.uhn.on.ca

26.1 Introduction

In view of the excellent cure rates that are currently achieved in the relatively young population of patients with Hodgkin lymphoma (HL) [1], it has become increasingly important to evaluate and limit the long-term complications of treatment. Research conducted over the last three decades has clearly demonstrated that, paradoxically, some treatments used to treat cancer have the potential to induce new (second) primary malignancies. Of all late complications of treatment, second malignant neoplasms (SMNs) are considered to be among the most serious because they cause not only substantial morbidity but also considerable mortality. Among long-term survivors of HL, second cancer deaths have been reported to be the largest contributor to the substantial excess mortality that these patients experience [2–4].

Increased risk of SMNs has been observed both after radiotherapy (RT) and chemotherapy (CT). In 1972, Arseneau and colleagues [5] were the first to report an increased risk of second cancer after HL treatment. Based on 12 second malignancies in 425 patients treated at the US National Institutes of Health from 1953 to 1971, they estimated a 3.5-fold risk increase compared to the general population. MOPP combination chemotherapy (mechlorethamine, vincristine, procarbazine, and prednisone) for HL was introduced in 1967; the leukemogenic potential of this regimen and similar ones became evident in reports published in 1973 [6], 1975 [7], and 1977 [8]. In the 1980s several studies showed that, after an induction period of 5-10 years, radiotherapy for HL increased the risk of solid malignancies, especially lung cancer [9–12].

It is important to recognize that not all SMNs are caused by treatment. The occurrence of two primary malignancies in the same individual may have several causes. It may represent a chance occurrence (in which case the two cancers developed as a result of unrelated factors); it may result from host susceptibility factors (e.g., genetic predisposition or immunodeficiency); it may be linked to carcinogenic influences in common, or a clustering of different risk factors in the same individual; or it may represent an effect of treatment for the first tumor [13, 14]. In view of the high prevalence of cancer in the general population and the increasing incidence of most cancers with age, background etiological factors other than treatment are likely to be responsible for a substantial proportion of second cancer, especially in older populations. Therefore, whenever a clinical impression arises that a specific combination of two distinct primary malignancies occurs more frequently than expected, comparison with cancer risk in the general population is imperative. If a SMN has been demonstrated to occur in excess, the contributions of other risk factors and the role of host susceptibility factors should be ruled out convincingly before the risk increase can be attributed to treatment. Even then, host factors may modify treatment effects, so that the risk associated with a given treatment will vary among individuals. The evaluation of the carcinogenic effects of therapy is further complicated by the fact that therapeutic agents are frequently given in combination. Appropriate epidemiologic and statistical methods are required to quantify the excess risk and to unravel treatment factors responsible for it.

In this chapter we address major aspects of SMN risk following treatment for HL. After an overview of the methods used for assessing second cancer risk, we discuss major contributors to second risk, i.e., radiation therapy and chemotherapy. Subsequently, a review is given of the risks of leukemia, non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL), and selected solid tumors in patients treated for HL. Emphasis is on large studies that were published recently. Finally, clinical implications of the most important findings are discussed.

26.2 Methods of Assessing Second Cancer Risk

Estimates of second cancer risk after treatment for HL derive from several sources, including population-based cancer registries, hospitalbased cancer registries, or clinical trial series. The cohort study and the nested case-control study are the most common epidemiologic study designs used in second cancer research [15, 16]. Case reports have an important role in the early recognition of potential associations between different malignancies. However, because of lack of information on the underlying population at risk, they are not useful in quantifying risks.

In a *cohort study*, a large group of patients (the cohort) with a specified first malignancy is fol-

lowed for a number of years to determine the incidence of second (and subsequent) malignancies. Because most patient cohorts in which second cancer risk has been assessed were identified retrospectively, follow-up of all patients in such studies is completed up to some point in the recent past. To evaluate whether second cancer risk in the cohort is increased compared with cancer risk in the general population, the observed number of SMNs in the cohort is compared with the number expected on the basis of age-, gender-, and calendar year-specific cancer incidence rates in the general population. This can be done in a so-called "person-years" type of analysis. In this approach, adjustment is made for the distribution of the cohort according to age, sex, and calendar period, while the observation period of individual patients (person-years at risk) is also taken into account. The relative risk (RR) of developing a SMN is estimated by the ratio of the observed number of SMNs in the cohort to the number expected. In epidemiologic terminology, the *observed-to-expected ratio* is often called the standardized incidence ratio (SIR). For cancer deaths, the equivalent measure is the standardized mortality ratio (SMR), in which observed second malignancy deaths are compared with expected numbers of deaths.

A disadvantage of the person-years method as applied in its simplest form is that it assumes the risk of SMN development to be constant over time; that is, it assumes the second cancer experience of 1000 patients followed for 1 year to be comparable to that of 100 patients followed for 10 years. When this assumption is inappropriate (as with treatment-related cancers developing after an induction period), it is more informative to calculate SIRs within specified posttreatment intervals (usually 5-year periods) [17, 18]. A temporal trend of excess SMN risk may in itself provide an important initial clue to treatment-related causes; for example, the SIR of solid malignancy following RT for HL generally increases with time since exposure.

When the observed-to-expected ratio is increased, the question arises whether the risk

increase is caused by the treatment. This can be evaluated by comparing SIRs between treatment groups, preferably with a reference group of patients not treated with RT or CT. Such a comparison group is unfortunately not available for patients with HL. When the observation period (or survival rate) differs between treatments, their overall observed-to-expected ratios cannot be validly compared without accounting for the difference in length of follow-up. This adjustment for treatment-associated differences in follow-up time (or age) is often done using Poisson regression (see below).

Second cancer risk in the cohort (and in different treatment groups) can also be expressed by the cumulative (actuarial estimated) risk [19], which gives the proportion of patients expected to develop a SMN by time t (e.g., 5 years from diagnosis) if they do not die before then. When the cohort's death rate from causes other than SMNs is high, the assumption of "non-informative censoring" underlying the actuarial method is often not valid. In particular, the assumption that patients who died due to other causes would have the same temporal pattern of SMN risk as those who survived is incorrect. In such cases actuarial risk tends to overestimate the true risk and *competing-risk* techniques should be used to estimate cumulative risk [15, 20–23]. In comparing estimates of cumulative risk across studies, it is important to keep in mind that this measure of risk depends strongly on the age distribution of a specific cohort; because of the low background incidence of cancer at young ages, cohorts of HL patients including childhood HL will report much lower cumulative risks than cohorts including adults only.

Most studies reporting cumulative risks make no comparison with cancer risk in the general population, yet population-expected cumulative risks over time can be easily calculated on the basis of cancer incidence rates from a populationbased registry [24]. Because certain treatmentrelated cancers are rare in the general population (e.g., leukemia, sarcoma), a high SIR (compared to the population) may still translate into a rather low cumulative risk. *Absolute excess risk* (AER), which estimates the excess number of SMNs occurring per 10,000 patients per year (beyond those expected to occur based on cancer rates in the general population), best reflects the clinical burden of SMN in a cohort. Consequently, this risk measure is also the most appropriate one to judge which second malignancies contribute most to the excess morbidity or mortality.

The calculation of observed-to-expected ratios on the basis of person-years analysis, and the calculation of cumulative risks using life table analysis, involves rather simple statistical methods, which have a strong intuitive appeal. Besides these elementary methods, statistical modeling with Cox proportional hazards model and Poisson regression techniques is increasingly being used to refine the quantification of second cancer RRs (e.g., by estimating dose- and time-response relationships) and to examine the interplay between treatment variables and other factors [25–27].

Each of the data sources that are commonly used to constitute cohorts has specific advantages and disadvantages. Population-based cancer registries have large numbers of patients available, which allows the detection of even small excess risks of second cancers [27-30]. An additional advantage is that the observed and expected numbers of cancers come from the same reference population. Disadvantages include limited availability of treatment data and underreporting of SMNs [13, 30, 31] (in particular hematologic malignancies). Population-based registries differ greatly in these aspects and hence in their usefulness for second cancer studies. If treatment data are not available, it is impossible to know whether excess risk for a SMN is related to treatment or to shared etiology with the first cancer. Underreporting of SMNs clearly leads to an underestimation of second cancer risk. Far higher risks of second leukemia following HL have been found in hospital series [11, 32] than in population-based studies [29]. Part of this difference, however, may be attributable to the more intensive treatments administered in large treatment centers [33]. Despite their disadvantages, population-based registries are well suited to evaluate broadly which SMNs occur in excess following a wide spectrum of different first primary malignancies. They are also a valuable starting point for case-control studies that evaluate treatment effects in detail (see below).

A major advantage of *clinical trial databases* is that detailed treatment data on all patients are available. Comparison of SMN risk between the treatment arms of the trial controls for any intrinsic risk of SMNs associated with the first cancer. However, a limitation of most trials is the small number of patients involved. Although this problem can be overcome by combining data from a number of trials [34], multicenter trial series pose other problems. For example, the main end points of interest in most clinical trials are treatment response and survival, and many trials neither collect information on treatment for recurrences nor on long-term occurrence of SMNs, so that followup data to a fixed end date may be very incomplete (and biased). Ideally, routine reporting and assessment of SMN risk should become an integral part of clinical trial research [15, 35, 36].

Most hospital-based tumor registries have been in existence for decades and collect extensive data on treatment and follow-up. They share the advantages of clinical trial databases and sometimes have better opportunities to obtain long-term follow-up data. Investigators using hospital tumor registries have ready access to the medical records; often a review of the histologic slides of the first and the second malignancy can also be arranged easily. An additional advantage is that, compared with trial data, hospital registries provide a wider range of treatments and dose levels, which may yield important information on drug and radiation carcinogenesis. Most studies of second cancer risk following HL have been based on hospital registries [8, 32, 37, 38]. As with trial data, however, loss to follow-up and surveillance bias compared to population-based studies can be problematic.

The cohort study is not an efficient study design for detailed examination of the association of treatment factors (e.g., cumulative dose of alkylating agents) with second cancer risk. Large cohorts are required to yield reliable estimates of second cancer risk, rendering the collection of detailed treatment data for all patients prohibitively expensive and time consuming. In such instances, the so-called nested case-control study within an existing cohort is the preferred approach [15]. The case group consists of all patients identified with the SMN of interest, and the controls are a random sample of all patients in the cohort who did not develop the cancer concerned, although they experienced the same amount of follow-up time. To achieve maximum statistical power, most case-control studies of second cancer risk use a design in which more than one control is individually matched to each second cancer "case." Matching factors employed in most studies include sex, year of birth, and year at diagnosis of the first primary cancer. The most important criterion for control selection is that each control must have survived, without developing the SMN of interest, for at least as long as the interval between the diagnosis of the first and the second malignancy of the corresponding case. Even if the control group is three times as large as the case group, detailed treatment data need to be collected for only a small proportion of the total cohort. It is critical to the validity of the study results that the controls are truly representative of all patients who did not develop the second cancer of interest. In the analysis of a case-control study of second cancer risk, treatment factors are compared between cases and controls. Treatments that have been administered more often, for a longer duration, or with a higher dose to the case group than to the controls are associated with increased risk of developing the SMN of interest. It is important to understand that in a nested casecontrol study, the risk associated with specific treatments is estimated relative to the risk in patients receiving other treatment and not relative to the risk in the general population. The cumulative risk of developing a SMN cannot be derived using data from a case-control study alone. Estimates of the AERs associated with specific treatments can be derived, however, if

the case-control study follows a cohort analysis in which observed-to-expected ratios were calculated for broad treatment groups. Although case-control methodology has only come into widespread use for the investigation of SMN risk in recent decades, several landmark studies have already demonstrated its strengths [33, 39–42].

26.3 Magnitude of the Risk Increase of Second Malignancy, Temporal Patterns, and Age Effects

The largest overall SIR (10- to 15-fold increase) compared to the general population is observed for leukemia (with the greatest risk seen for AML (22-fold), followed by a 6- to 14-fold increased risk for non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL), and 4to 12-fold excesses for connective tissue, bone, and thyroid cancer) (Table 26.1). Moderately increased risks (two- to ninefold) are observed for a number of solid tumors, such as cancer of the lung, stomach, esophagus, colon, rectum, breast, cervix, and mouth and pharynx and melanoma (Table 26.1) [27, 43-48]. Because leukemia and NHL are diseases with a low incidence in the population, even a high relative risk compared to the population translates into a relatively low cumulative risk.

Many studies show that, over the long term, the cumulative risk of solid tumors far exceeds that of leukemia and NHL (e.g., 30-year cumulative risks of 28.5% for solid tumors compared to a 25-year cumulative risk of 3% for leukemia, respectively) (Tables 26.2 and 26.3) [32, 45]. Several studies [32, 44–47] show that, compared with the general population, HL patients experience an excess of about 45-80 malignancies per 10,000 person-years of observation (Tables 26.2 and 26.3). Solid tumors account for the majority of excess cancers (approximately 30-60 per 10,000 patients per year), with lung cancer contributing 10-12 excess cases per 10,000 personyears. Leukemia and NHL each account for about 8-9 cases per 10,000 person-years.

		Hodgson et al.			Schaapveld et al.	
	Bhatia et al. [43]	[27]	Swerdlow e	et al. [44]	[45]	Sud et al [46]
	USA	International	Britain		Netherlands	Sweden
	$N = 1380^{\text{b}}$	$N = 18862^{b}$	N = 5798	b	N = 3905 ^b	N = 9522
	Ages ≤ 16 years	All ages	All ages		Ages <51 years	All ages
	Med. fup 17 years	Med. fup 12.2 years			Med. fup 19.1 years	Mean fup 12.6 years
	Years of dx 1955–1986	Years of dx 1970–1997	Years of 1963–200	dx D1	Years of dx 1965–2000	Years of dx 1965–2012
		RR ^c (n	SIR (n obse	erved)		SIR (n
Site	SIR (n observed)	observed)	Chemo ^d	Ch + RT ^d	SIR (<i>n</i> observed)	observed)
All sites	18.5° (143)	_f	2.0° (157)	3.9° (302)	4.6° (884)	2.4° (1121)
All solid	18.5° (109)	-f (1490)	_f	_f	4.2° (757)	-
Leukemia	174.8° (27)	- (-) ^f	18.4° (33)	22.7° (42)	9.5° (41)	6.5° (79)
NHL	11.7° (7)	- (-) ^f	11.5° (31)	17.1º (51)	13.4° (104)	8.0° (125)
Female breast	55.5° (39)	6.1 ^g (–)	0.5 (5)	2.4° (30)	4.7° (183)	2.5° (146)
Lung	27.3° (4)	6.7° (–)	2.9° (40)	5.1° (60)	6.4° (176)	3.6° (138)
Stomach	63.9° (3)	9.5° (-)	1.1 (4)	2.7° (8)	7.4° (39)	1.8° (31)
Colon	36.4° (8)	4.3° (-)	1.1 (10)	2.0° (17)	2.9° (42)	2.2° (83)
Pancreas	_f	4.7° (-)	1.0 (2)	2.9 (5)	5.7° (23)	2.1° (28)
Bone	37.1° (8)	- (-) ^f	0	9.0° (2)	_f	_f
Soft tissue	_f	- (-) ^f	0	8.9° (5)	12.0° (22)	5.7° (20)
Bone and soft	_f	11.7° (-)	_f	_f	_f	
tissue						
Melanoma	_f	1.6 ^c (–)	0.5 (1)	2.7°(7)	2.8° (34)	2.1 ^e (42)
Cervix	_f	2.2 ^h (-)	1.4 (2)	2.7 (6)	_f	_f
Thyroid	36.4° (19)	3.1 ⁱ (-)	2.3 (1)	5.7° (3)	14.0° (23)	5.1° (20)

Table 26.1 Relative risks of second malignancy after HL for selected sites in large^a cohort studies published since 2003

NHL non-Hodgkin lymphoma, *Med. Fup* median follow-up, *Years of dx*, years of diagnosis; *RR*, relative risk; *n*, number of second malignancies

^aOnly includes studies with \geq 100 second malignancies; for cohorts included in several reports, only the paper with the longest follow-up is included

^bNumber of Hodgkin disease patients included in the study

^cRRs are for males and females combined and for individuals diagnosed with HL at age 30 years and attained age range 40–60 years

^dChemo refers to patients treated with chemotherapy only; Ch + RT refers to patients treated with chemotherapy plus radiotherapy

^eSignificantly raised (P < 0.05)

^fData not published

gRR is for women diagnosed with HL at age 30 years and attained age 40 years

hRR is for all female genital second cancers

ⁱRR is for individuals diagnosed with HL at age 30 years and all attained ages

Although SMN risks are often summarized as a single relative risk (SIR) or AER value for the sake of simplicity, it is important to recognize that variation over time is one of the fundamental features of second cancer risk. Further, the nature of this variation is different for different second malignancy sites, and ages at treatment, and additionally relative risks vary over time differently than AERs (Figs. 26.1 and 26.2). Consequently, no single risk value fully describes the SMN risk that patients experience at different times after treatment. Leukemia risk increases approximately 2–4 years following alkylator-based chemotherapy, with the SIR peaking 5–9 years after treatment and decreasing thereafter [32, 33, 44, 45, 47, 52–54]. The SIR of NHL is increased in the first 5 years after treatment, and study findings disagree regarding whether NHL risk

				Schaapveld et al.	
	Hodgson et al. [27]	Swerdlow et al. [44]		[45]	Sud et al [46]
	International	Britain		Netherlands	Sweden
	N = 18,862 ^b	N = 5798 ^b		N = 3905	N=9522
	All ages	All ages		15-50 years	All Ages
		Dx yrs 1963–2	2001	Med. fup 19.1	Mean fup 12.6
	Med. fup 12.2 years			years	years
	Dx yrs 1970–1997			Dx yrs 1965–2000	Dx yrs 1965–2012
		Chemo	Ch+RT		
All cancers					
SIR	(-)	2.0	4.6	3.9	2.4
AER	(-)	32.9	121.8	65.3	71.2
CI	(-)	20 year = 13%	30 years = 32.5%	20 year = 18%	
All solid					
SIR	4.6 ^b , 3.7 ^c	(-)	4.2	2.0	(-)
AER	(-)	(-)	100.5	33.1	(-)
CI	30 years = 18.3% (M) ^d and 26.1% (F) ^d	(-)	30 years = 28.5%	25 years = 21.9%	(-)
Breast cancer					
SIR	6.1	0.5	4.7	2.4	2.5
AER	61 ^f	-1.8	54.3	5.1	9.2
CI	(-)		30 years = 16.6%		
(Acute) leukemia					
SIR	(-)	18.4	(-)	22.7	6.5
AER	(-)	12.8	(-)	11.7	6.9
CI	(-)		(-)		

Table 26.2 SIR, AER, and cumulative incidence of second malignancy among HL survivors in selected studies

SIR standardized incidence ratio, AER absolute excess risk, CI cumulative incidence

^bSupradiaphragmatic sites

°Infradiaphragmatic sites

^dDiagnosed at age 30

fAER predicted for a 30-year-old female attained age 50

increases [11, 54] or remains constant over time [37, 44, 47, 53].

Most studies report that the overall SIR of solid tumors is minimally elevated in the 1–4-year follow-up period and increases thereafter [11, 32, 37, 45, 47, 53–55]. In studies that include data on HL patients who survived 20 years or more, the RR of solid tumors continued to increase through the 15- to 20-year follow-up period and stabilized thereafter [32, 37, 38, 43–45, 47, 49–56]. A recent Dutch study of

patients diagnosed with HL before age 50 reported that the SIRs of solid tumors remained very stable up to 35 years after HL, without much evidence of a decrease in very long-term survivors [45]. Reports from the Late Effects Study Group on survivors of pediatric HL and the US Childhood Cancer Survivor Study reported a stable 20- to 24-fold increased relative risk from 15 to over 30 years after diagnosis [43, 49]. An international registry-based study of 5-year HL survivors employed Poisson

	Castellino et al. [49]	Bhatia et al. [43]	Basu et al. and Constine et al. [50, 51]
	USA	USA	USA
	1675	N = 1380	N = 930
	Ages <21 years	Ages ≤16 years	Ages <19 years
	Med. fup 23.8 years	Med. fup 17 years	Med. fup 16.8 years
	Years of dx 1970–1986	Dx years 1955–1986	Dx years 1960–1990
All cance	ers		
SIR	8.7	18.5	14.2
AER	69.2	65ª	62.6
CI	30 years = 10.9% (M) and 26.1% (F)	30 years = 26.3%	20 year = 8% (M) and 23% (F)
All solid	·		
SIR	(-)	18.5	(-)
AER	(-)	51ª	(-)
CI	(-)	30 years = 23.5%	(-)
Breast (f	emales)		
SIR	17.0	55.5	37.3
AER	29.0	53ª	18.6
CI	30 years = 18.3%	30 years = 16.9%	30 years = 24%
Acute let	ıkemia		
SIR	12.7	174.8	21.5
AER	3.4	1.3	5.7
CI	(-)	20 years = 2.1%	(-)

Table 26.3 SIR, AER, and cumulative incidence of second malignancy among pediatric HL survivors

SIR standardized incidence ratio, EAR excess absolute risk, CI cumulative incidence

aResults were published per 1000 person-years. For consistency these have been multiplied by 10 (i.e., 10,000 P-Y)

regression methods comparable to those used to evaluate the temporal trends of cancer risk among atomic bomb survivors [27]. Variation in the risk of solid cancer was found to depend strongly on age at exposure, and attained age, with distinctly different patterns for female breast cancer, thyroid cancer, and other solid tumors (Fig. 26.3). With increasing attained age, the relative risk of breast cancer declined among females diagnosed at a young age (modeled age 20 years), whereas this decline was much less pronounced among women treated at older ages (30 or 40 years at HL diagnosis) (Fig. 26.2). In contrast, the relative risk of other solid cancers remained stable with advancing attained age, with a small decline after attained age of 60 years (Fig. 26.1). The AER of breast cancer and non-breast solid cancers increased with increasing attained age for

all age groups [27] (Figs. 26.1 and 26.2). These findings demonstrate the importance of considering both age at exposure and attained age in the evaluation of SMN risk, as well as the potential importance of considering different solid cancers separately. Combining different age-at-treatment groups or all solid tumor types together may obscure significant variation in risks over time that can occur among different age groups or different SMN types. Also, the AER of SMNs changes over time differently than the SIR (Figs. 26.1 and 26.2). With increasing time since treatment, the major influence on the AER is the increasing background (i.e., "expected") rate of cancer, which rises rapidly with increasing age. As these baseline risks increase with advancing age, even stable elevations in SIRs translate into rising AER over time (Fig. 26.1).

Fig. 26.1 Relative risk (*RR*) and absolute excess risk of supra- and infradiaphragmatic solid cancers according to age at HL diagnosis and attained age. (**a**) RR of supra- and infradiaphragmatic solid cancers. (**b**) AER of supra- and infradiaphragmatic solid cancers (From: Hodgson et al. [27])

Fig. 26.2 Relative risk

(RR) and absolute excess

of female breast cancer

according to age at HL diagnosis and attained

age. (a) RR of female

breast cancer. (**b**) AER of female breast cancer

(From: Hodgson et al.

[27])



Attained Age (years; female breast)





Fig. 26.3 (a) Cumulative incidence of all solid cancers among 10,619 male 5-year survivors of Hodgkin lymphoma (HL) compared with men of the same age in the general population (GP). (b) Cumulative incidence for 8243 female 5-year survivors compared with women of the same age in the GP (From: Hodgson et al. [27])





26.4 Contributors to Second Cancer Risk

26.4.1 Radiation Therapy

Increased risks of second cancers following RT for HL have been reported for over two decades [29]. These reports add to a substantial body of evidence demonstrating that radiation is carcinogenic over a broad range of doses and can increase the risk of a variety of different tumor types [57–61]. Certain tissues, such as the female breast, and thyroid appear to be particularly susceptible to radiation-induced malignancy.

Among HL patients, treatment with mantle RT (involving the axillary, mediastinal, and neck nodes) to doses of 35–45 Gy is associated with a 2- to 20-fold increased relative risk of breast cancer, with a strong influence of age at exposure, as discussed in detail below [24, 27, 32, 37, 43, 45, 60, 62]. Mantle RT is also associated with an increased relative risk of lung cancer, although the absolute excess risk is in fact small in the first 10–20 years after exposure, particularly among those treated at young ages (e.g., ≤ 0.2 per 10,000 person-years among those treated before age 20 years) [43, 52]. The risks of other solid cancers, especially stomach cancer, have also been shown to be elevated after RT [40].

Much of our current understanding of the relationship between radiation dose and cancer risk has been derived from cohort studies of individuals exposed to low levels of radiation, such as atomic bomb survivors [60, 63–65]. However, extrapolation of the dose-risk relationships seen at low total body doses into the 15–40 Gy ranges used for HL RT cannot be done with certainty, due to differences relating to dose rate, neutron exposure, and the possibility of cell killing at high doses. More recently, studies of SMN risk have evaluated the dose-risk relationship in the radiation dose range commonly used in the treatment of HL.

There appears to be an approximately linear increase in the risk of leukemia with increasing radiation dose to the bone marrow, up to approximately 2–4 Gy [66–68]. At doses above this, the risk of leukemia per unit radiation dose to the

bone marrow appears to decline [66–68], a finding generally attributed to killing or inactivation of preleukemic cells at the higher radiation doses [66, 69]. One study of leukemia risk in survivors of uterine cancer, however, showed little evidence for such a clear downturn in risk [67].

The "bell-shaped" dose-risk curve for leukemia, with a peak at 2-4 Gy, does not seem to apply to the risk of most solid tumors. Most studies examining the dose-risk relationship for solid tumors suggest a continued increase in risk with doses up to approximately 40 Gy [41, 42, 70, 71]. Three studies have evaluated the relationship between radiation dose and breast cancer risk among adult females treated for HL with mantle RT [41, 42, 72]. The RT dose to the area of the breast where the case's tumor had developed was estimated for each case-control set based on simulation films of the original HL radiotherapy and mammograms indicating the position of the breast tumor. All studies showed increasing risk of breast cancer over the dose range commonly used in the treatment of HL. For example, in a large international collaborative case-control study of women treated for HL at age 30 years or less [42] (105 patients with breast cancer after HL and 266 controls without breast cancer), the risk was eightfold increased (95% CI, 2.6-26.4) for the highest dose category (median dose of 42 Gy) compared to the lowest one (<4 Gy) (Ptrend <0.001, Table 26.4) [42]. Similarly, a recent Dutch case-control study estimated radiation dose to the site of breast cancer for 174 breast cancer cases and 466 controls [72]. The investigators reported a linear increase in breast cancer risk with increasing dose, with an excess odds ratio (EOR) of 6.1%/Gy (adjusted for duration of post-RT ovarian function). Compared to those with <3 Gy to the breast, the odds ratio of breast cancer was 4.7-fold higher among those with breast exposures of \geq 36 Gy (Fig. 26.4).

The risk of lung cancer also rises with increasing radiation dose up to 40 Gy and with an increasing volume of lung irradiated (Table 26.4) [73, 74]. Similarly, an international case-control study (32 cases and 71 matched controls) showed that risk of esophageal cancer in HL survivors increased with higher radiation doses with a radi-

Breast cancer ^a			Lung cancer ^b			Stomach cancer ^c		
Radiation	Relative	95% CI	Radiation	Relative	95% CI	Radiation	Relative	
dose to	risk		dose to	risk		dose to	risk	
affected site			affected site			affected site		
in breast			in lung			in stomach		95% CI
0–3.9 Gy	1.0	(Referent)	0	1.0	(Referent)	0	1.0	(Referent)
4.0–6.9 Gy	1.8	0.7–4.5	>0-4.9 Gy	1.6	0.5-5.2	>0.1–0.9 Gy	1.3	0.4-4.1
7.0–23.1 Gy	4.1	1.4–12.3	5–14.9 Gy	4.2	0.7–21	1.0-4.9 Gy	1.0	0.3–3.5
23.2-	2.0	0.7–5.9	15.0–29.9 Gy	2.7	0.2–15	5.0–24.9 Gy	0.5	0.1-2.7
27.9 Gy								
28.0-	6.8	2.3-22.3	30.0–39.9 Gy	8.5	3.3–24	25.0-	4.6	1.2-20.5
37.1 Gy						34.9 Gy		
37.2-	4.0	1.3–13.4	≥40.0 Gy	6.3	2.2–19	35.0-	8.2	2.6-29.7
40.4 Gy			-			39.9 Gy		
40.5-	8.0	2.6-26.4				≥40.0 Gy	4.2	1.2-15.6
61.3 Gy								

Table 26.4 Relative risks of breast, lung, and stomach cancers after Hodgkin lymphoma, according to radiation dose to affected site in breast/lung/stomach and number of cycles of alkylating chemotherapy^{a,b}

No. of cycles of alkylating agents

0	1.0	(Referent)	0	1.0	(Referent)	0	1.0	(Referent)
1-4	0.7	0.3–1.7	1–4	4.0	1.3–12.5	1–5	1.0	0.5-2.4
5-8	0.6	0.3-1.1	5–8	6.2	2.6-17.1	6	1.7	0.7–4.4
≥9	0.2	0.1-0.7	≥9	13.0	4.3-45	7–10	1.9	0.7–4.9
						≥11	3.0	1.2–7.7

^aAdapted from results by Travis et al. [42]

^bAdapted from results by Gilbert et al. [72]

^cAdapted from results by Morton et al. [40]



Fig. 26.4 Estimated cumulative incidence of breast cancer in female Hodgkin lymphoma survivors for tertiles of radiation dose to breast tumor location and duration of post-RT intact ovarian function (greater or less than 10 years intact). Cumulative risks among 10-year survivors treated with death as competing risk, estimated form ORs derived from case-control data relative to the cumulative breast cancer risk for the entire cohort, assuming that the distribution of all individuals in the cohort across dose categories was equal to that for the controls (From: Krul et al. [72]) ation dose response compatible with a linear increase in risk (EOR/Gy = 0.38) [75]. Furthermore, two studies in survivors of childhood cancer [76, 77] suggest that the risk of bone sarcoma increases rapidly with increasing dose above 10 Gy [78]. An international case-control study of stomach cancer nested in a cohort of 19,882 HL survivors found that stomach doses \geq 25 Gy were associated with a significantly elevated risk of gastric cancer particularly when also given procarbazine-containing chemotherapy [40]. Risk increased with larger radiation doses to stomach up to 40-44 Gy (Table 26.4). Similarly, van den Belt et al. reported that the risk of stomach cancer increases linearly with radiation dose to the stomach, with tenfold increased risk for mean stomach doses of >20 Gy compared to less than 11 Gy [79]. A case-control study, evaluating risk of pancreatic cancer after HL treatment, again found an increased risk with higher radiation dose to the pancreas, with an odds ratio of 9.1 at doses \geq 40 Gy compared to patients who received a pancreatic dose <0.5 Gy (adjusted for number of alkylating agent containing cycles of chemotherapy) [80]. Radiationinduced thyroid cancer may be an exception to these general findings for other solid cancers: dose-risk studies have suggested a leveling or decrease in thyroid cancer risk with doses above 10–30 Gy [61, 81, 82] although one study reported increasing risk of thyroid cancer with increasing dose up to 60 Gy [83].

Although no studies have evaluated the association of radiation dose to the colon and subsequent colon cancer risk, several studies observed increased cancer risk after subdiaphragmatic irradiation. In the study by van Eggermond et al. the risk of rectal cancer was 6.3-fold increased and the risk of colon cancer 6.0-fold and the risk among patients treated with inverted-Y irradiation compared to general population rates, with highest risk observed for transverse colon cancer (SIR 15.0; 95% CI, 4.3–40.8) [52]. Compared to patients not treated with infradiaphragmatic radiation therapy and a procarbazine dose \leq 4200 mg/m², CRC risk was 6.8-fold higher for patients who had infradiaphragmatic radiation therapy and had received a procarbazine dose >4200 mg/m².

The treatment of large volumes of normal tissues in pediatric patients, even with lower prescribed doses of 15–36 Gy, was still associated with substantially increased risks of second malignancy in one study [84], illustrating the importance of not only limiting the prescribed dose but also reducing the volume of normal tissue irradiated (and hence the normal tissue dose) compared to historic mantle or extended-field RT.

These dose-risk studies provide a critical component to understanding the potential risk of second cancers associated with contemporary involved field RT (IFRT) or involved node/site RT (INRT/ISRT for HL). Specifically, they suggest that reduction in normal tissue dose associated with reducing the prescribed dose from 36-40 to 20-30 Gy and reducing the volume of irradiated normal tissue by omitting uninvolved nodal regions from the RT volume should produce a lower risk of most solid SMN, perhaps with the exception of thyroid cancer. Data are emerging that this is the case. One study found that for patients with mediastinal disease, the transition from mantle fields to mediastinal IFRT resulted in an approximately 65% reduction in breast tissue exposure, largely due to the exclusion of the axillae [85], and clinical studies provide evidence that this volume-related reduction in breast exposure appears to translate into a reduced risk of subsequent breast cancer. A large Dutch study, including 1122 female 5-year survivors of HL, examined the effect of radiation fields (volume) on the risk of breast cancer up to more than 30 years after treatment of HL [24]. Mantle field irradiation was associated with a 2.7-fold (95% CI, 1.1-6.9) increased risk of breast cancer compared to similarly dosed (36-44 Gy) radiation to the mediastinum alone (Fig. 26.5) [24]. This finding, which was recently confirmed in a much larger Dutch cohort, with updated follow-up, is reassuring since presentday radiotherapy for HL employs smaller radiation volumes which have been shown to reduce normal tissue doses [24, 45, 86, 87].

Fig. 26.5 The cumulative incidence of breast cancer after HL according to period treatment among 1698 female 5-year survivors of Hodgkin lymphoma age 15–50 years at first Hodgkin lymphoma treatment. Solid lines represent the observed incidence, dashed lines the expected incidence (From: Schaapveld et al. [45])



26.4.2 Chemotherapy

There is a well-established association between exposure to alkylating chemotherapy agents and an increased risk of acute myeloid leukemia (AML) in HL survivors. The MOPP chemotherapy regimen (mechlorethamine, vincristine, procarbazine, and prednisone) was widely employed in the 1970s, as it became evident that it was superior to RT alone in curing high-risk HL. However, it was associated with an increased relative risk of AML of 20- to 50-fold [11, 54, 88–92]. The cumulative dose of alkylating agents appears to be the strongest determinant of risk [14, 88, 93, 94]. Most cases of alkylating agent-induced AML are preceded by myelodysplasia (MDS), which generally progresses to AML within a year [54, 94-96]. Cytogenetic studies of alkylator-induced AML/MDS have shown unbalanced chromosome aberrations, primarily with loss of whole chromosomes 5 and/or 7 or various parts of the long arms of these chromosomes [94, 96, 97].

Several more recent studies suggest that topoisomerase II inhibitors, such as doxorubicin and 4-epidoxorubicin (epirubicin), may also be associated with increased risks of AML [33, 97, 98], but this association is not nearly as well established as it is for alkylating agents and requires further study. Certainly, ABVD chemotherapy (doxorubicin, bleomycin, vinblastine, dacarbazine) is associated with a much lower risk of AML than MOPP chemotherapy, although it is not clear that this risk is eliminated altogether [44, 54, 99]. Etoposide, used in HL chemotherapy regimens such as BEACOPP (bleomycin, etoposide, doxorubicin, cyclophosphamide, vincristine, procarbazine, prednisone) and OEPA (vincristine, etoposide, prednisolone, doxorubicin), is also leukemogenic [100, 101]. As compared with "classical" alkylating agent-induced AML, etoposide-related AML typically occurs sooner after exposure, generally lacks a preceding myelodysplastic phase, and is characterized by balanced translocations involving chromosome bands 11q23 and 21q22 [14, 94, 102–104].

Evidence increasingly suggests that chemotherapy also may play a role in the development of non-hematologic SMNs, which typically occur >10 years after exposure [14, 105]. Alkylating agents have been reported to increase risks for lung, thyroid, gastrointestinal, and bladder cancers as well as sarcoma. For example, lung cancer risk after HL is increased 2- to 4-fold with increasing number of cycles of alkylating agentcontaining chemotherapy, particularly MOPP [39, 43, 44, 74, 106, 107]. Among childhood cancer survivors, receipt of any alkylating agent has been associated with 2.4-fold increased risk for thyroid cancer; receipt of procarbazine and platinum has been associated with 3.2- and 8.6-fold increased risk, respectively, of gastrointestinal cancer, and both alkylating agents and anthracyclines have been associated with sarcoma risk [52, 75, 108–110].

The causal link between cyclophosphamide and bladder cancer represents one of the few established relationships between a specific alkylating agent and carcinogenesis at a specific site, likely as a result of direct genotoxic exposure of bladder epithelium from cyclophosphamide metabolites [111, 112]. Procarbazine-related risks for the gastrointestinal tract also may be related to direct exposure [40, 52, 80, 109, 113]. For procarbazine and risks of cancers of the stomach and pancreas, dose-dependent effects have recently been found in survivors of HL [40, 79]. Furthermore, patients who received both radiation to the stomach ≥ 25 Gy and high-dose procarbazine $(\geq 5600 \text{ mg/m}^2)$ had strikingly elevated stomach cancer risk (RR, 77.5; 95% CI, 14.7-1452) compared with those who received radiation <25 Gy and procarbazine <5600 mg/m². Risk was also elevated (RR, 2.8; 95% CI, 1.3-6.4) among patients who received radiation to the stomach \geq 25 Gy but procarbazine <5600 mg/m²; however, no procarbazine-related risk was evident with radiation <25 Gy (Fig. 26.6). Treatment with dacarbazine also increased stomach cancer risk (RR, 8.8; 95% CI, 2.1-46.6), after adjustment for radiation and procarbazine doses [40]. In a recent study, risk of colorectal cancer was 3.8-fold (95% CI, 2.2–6.1) after >4200 mg/m² procarbazine, adjusted for infradiaphragmatic radiation field. Patients who received both >4200 mg/m² procarbazine and infradiaphragmatic radiation therapy had a very high colorectal cancer risk (RR, 6.8; 95% CI, 3.0-15.6), compared to patients receiving none of these treatments [52]. Similarly, pancreatic cancer risk increased with an increase in number of alkylating agent-containing chemotherapy



Fig. 26.6 Risk of stomach cancer after Hodgkin lymphoma in relation to radiation dose to stomach and procarbazine dose (From: Morton et al. [40])

cycles. The odds ratio was 17.9 (95% confidence interval 3.5–158) increased for patients treated with both subdiaphragmatic radiation (\geq 10 Gy) and \geq 6 alkylating agent-containing chemotherapy cycles compared with patients receiving neither of these treatments, with a significantly greater than additive joint effect for these two treatments combined (subdiaphragmatic radiation \geq 10 Gy and <6 alkylating agents, OR 3.0 (95% CI, 0.7–17), and subdiaphragmatic radiation <10 Gy and \geq 6 alkylating agents, OR 1.8 (95% CI, 0.4–9.7)) [80].

26.4.3 Genetic Factors

There is increasing interest in identifying the molecular and cellular basis underlying the development of SMNs in HL survivors and other cancer survivors. Germline mutations in the RB1 tumor suppressor gene, associated with hereditary retinoblastoma, constitute a well-described example of a rare mutation with high penetrance that confers a large risk of developing radiationrelated second cancer [114–116]. Although there is evidence that patients with a family history of cancer are more likely to develop radiationrelated SMNs [48, 117–122], it is unlikely that a single candidate gene abnormality will account for a significant component of the SMN risk following HL treatment. Currently, there is no uniform evidence that BRCA1 or BRCA2 gene mutations mediate the development of radiationrelated breast cancers. Two studies have reported that mammographic radiation exposure does not significantly contribute to the risk seen in BRCA1/2 mutation carriers [123, 124], though three other studies found that young BRCA1/2 mutation carriers had an increased risk of breast cancer if exposed to a significant number of chest X-rays [125–127]. There have been no studies examining whether carriers of BRCA mutations with HL have an increased risk of RT-associated cancers. Homozygous mutations in the ataxiatelangiectasia (ATM) gene are associated with significant radiation toxicity, although two studies have reported that no ATM mutations were found in women who had developed breast cancer after RT for HL [121, 128]. Moreover, while P53 gene mutations are associated with an increased risk of primary malignancy [129], and increased radiation sensitivity in vitro [130, 131], there is currently no evidence that P53 mutations modify the risk of treatment-related SMN in HL patients.

Outside of the context of cancer predisposition syndromes, most studies have investigated SMN risks in relation to specific genes, selected based on understanding the biologic pathways of drug metabolism and carcinogenesis. These studies have reported associations for variants in oxidative stress, DNA detoxification, and DNA repair genes with treatment-related leukemia [132–138] and *FGFR2* with breast cancer after supradiaphragmatic radiotherapy for HL [139].

Methylating agents (e.g., dacarbazine) produce DNA damage, the repair of which is mediated in part by the MLH1 gene. Worrillow et al. examined the frequency of a common MLH1-93 polymorphism among patients who developed cancer following chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy, or were diagnosed with de novo myeloid leukemia or HL, and healthy controls [134]. Carrier frequency of the MLH1-93 variant was higher in patients who developed therapy-related AML or breast cancer after methylating chemotherapy for HL compared to patients without previous methylating exposure.

More recently, genome-wide association studies (GWAS), which agnostically interrogate hundreds of thousands to millions of variants across the genome [140], have revealed genomic regions associated with treatment-related leukemia [141] and with SMNs occurring among HL survivors initially treated with radiotherapy [142-144], supporting the idea of genetic susceptibility to treatment-related SMNs. A recent Dutch study used a GWAS approach to investigate the modifying effects of SNPs on the risk of radiationinduced breast cancer in an international case-case analysis including 327 breast cancer patients after chest RT for HL and 4671 first primary breast cancer patients from the international cohort [143]. Nine SNPs showed statistically significant interaction with RT on breast cancer risk. A polygenic risk score (PRS) composed of these SNPs (RT-interaction-PRS) and a previously published breast cancer PRS derived in the general population were evaluated in a case-control analysis comprising the 327 HL patients with breast cancer and 491 chest-irradiated HL patients without breast cancer. Patients in the highest tertile of the RT-interaction-PRS had a 1.6-fold higher breast cancer risk than those in the lowest tertile. After external validation this RT-interaction-PRS can be incorporated in risk prediction models for HL patients. Remarkably, authors observed a 4-fold increased the RT-induced risk in the highest compared with the lowest decile of the breast cancer PRS, similar to the effect size found in the general population. Morton et al. also recently reported results of a GWAS study, investigating modification of radiation-induced BC risk by SNPs. Pooling data from the US Childhood Cancer Survivor Study and the St. Jude Lifetime Cohort, comprising 207 survivors (136 with Hodgkin lymphoma) who developed breast cancer and 2774 (246 with Hodgkin lymphoma) without any subsequent neoplasm, this study found a locus on 1q41 (rs4342822) which was associated with a, per allele, 1.9-fold (95% CI, 1.5-2.4) increased subsequent breast cancer risk among survivors who received 10 or higher gray breast radiation exposure [144]. They also reported two suggestive associations for low-frequency variants at 11q23 and 1q32.3 with breast cancer risk after childhood cancer, suggesting a potential role for lowfrequency SNPs in RT-induced breast cancer.

Because of the large sample sizes required for such studies, international collaboration will be essential to validate these findings and move this field forward. Lending further support to the importance of this research area, several GWAS have identified genomic regions associated with toxicity after radiotherapy [145, 146].

26.5 Risk of Selected Second Malignancies

26.5.1 Risk Factors for Leukemia

Leukemia following HL is certainly the most studied treatment-induced malignancy, and thus,

extensive knowledge of its risk factors has emerged [14, 147, 148]. Leukemia was the first malignancy for which elevated risk after treatment for HL was observed, probably because of the relatively short latency period, the rarity of acute leukemia in the general population, and the high SIR [149].

Overall, in patients treated in the 1960s–1980s, risks compared with the general population have been reported to be 10- to over 80-fold increased (Table 26.1). Nearly all studies show that the SIR of leukemia is higher than that of NHL and much greater than that of solid tumors overall (Table 26.1). Because the background risk of leukemia in the population is low, however, this strongly increased SIR translates into a relatively low cumulative risk, ranging between 1.4% and 4.1% at 15 years [11, 32, 44, 45, 52, 55, 88, 99]. Overall, the AER has varied between 8 and 30 excess cases per 10,000 patients per year (Tables 26.2 and 26.3) [43, 44, 47, 150].

Radiotherapy alone is associated with a small, or no, increased risk of leukemia compared with the risk in the general population [11, 32, 43, 55, 85], while alkylating agent CT, as widely used up to the 1990s, is linked with greatly elevated risk. In cohort analysis of CT-treated patients, the SIRs of leukemia overall tend to be over 20-fold increase compared to the general population, while for AML over 50-fold risk increases are reported [11, 44, 45, 54, 88, 90–92].

Several studies have compared the leukemogenicity of different CT regimens. Where exposure has been quantified, risk appears to be most related to total dose of alkylating agents or nitrosoureas [11, 33, 77, 88, 92, 149]. Risk of AML rises sharply with an increasing number of MOPP (mechlorethamine, vincristine, procarbazine, prednisone) (or MOPP-like) cycles [33, 88]. The risk associated with 10-12 MOPP cycles appears to be approximately 3-5 times higher than the risk following six MOPP cycles [33, 88]. Total dose of alkylators and nitrosoureas is likely the explanation of the higher risk associated with salvage CT or maintenance CT [55, 88, 151], but there is evidence that retreatment may be itself a factor in risk [51, 88, 148, 152]. Among those treated with variations of MOPP that substitute cyclophosphamide for mechlorethamine, the risks are lower [11, 88, 92, 153, 154]. It has never been clarified whether mechlorethamine or procarbazine has the strongest effect on AML risk.

From the 1980s, MOPP-only CT has been gradually replaced by ABV(D) (doxorubicin, bleomycin, vinblastine, and dacarbazine)-containing regimens in many centers. There are only a few reports on AML occurrence following ABV(D) alone. Patients treated with ABVD in the Milan Cancer Institute, where this regimen was designed, were shown to have a significantly lower risk of AML than MOPP-treated patients (15-year cumulative risks of 0.7% and 9.5%, respectively) [99]. Another study showed that HL patients treated with MOPP/ABV(D)containing regimens in the 1980s had substantially lower risk of AML/MDS than patients treated in the 1970s with MOPP alone (10-year cumulative risks of 2.1% and 6.4%, respectively, P = 0.07 [54]. An international collaborative study showed that the AER of AML declined significantly after 1984, from 7.0 to 4.2 per 10,000 patients per year in those diagnosed before age 35 years and from 16.4 to 9.9 per 10,000 patient-years in the \geq 35 age group [155]. Also, AML risk was recently assessed in three generations of Stanford clinical trials for HL patients. The incidence of AML/MDS was significantly lower in patients treated in the period 1989–2003, especially with the Stanford V regimens (0.3% at 10 years) [45, 156].

A large Dutch cohort study also found an almost fourfold lower cumulative incidence of leukemia and myelodysplasia among patients treated in 1989–2000 than among patients treated in 1965–1976 [45].

There is, however, concern about the role of anthracyclines and epipodophyllotoxins (both of which are topoisomerase II inhibitors) in the risk of leukemia. Limited evidence suggests that doxorubicin in combination with higher doses of alkylating agents and/or epipodophyllotoxins may have a synergistic effect on the risk of AML. Analyses of the German Hodgkin Lymphoma Study Group (GHSG) also show low risks of AML after COPP-ABVD (mechlorethamine replaced by cyclophosphamide) and standard BEACOPP (bleomycin, etoposide, doxorubicin combined with COPP), while substantially increased risk of AML was observed for the escalated BEACOPP regimen [34, 150]. A GHSG analysis showed that 6 years after HL treatment patients who received \geq 4 cycles of escalated BEACOPP had an increased risk to develop t-AML/MDS compared with patients treated <4 cycles of escalated BEACOPP (1.7% vs. 0.7%, respectively; *P* < 0.0001); for patients not treated with BEACOPP the 6-year risk was only 0.3% [101].

Some studies suggest that RT adds to the leukemia risk associated with CT [147, 157], whereas other large series indicate that the risk of AML after combined treatment is comparable to that after CT alone [33, 43, 44, 88]. The interaction between RT and CT could be evaluated most rigorously in the large case-control study by Kaldor et al. [33] which included 163 cases of leukemia following HL. For each category of radiation dose (<10, 10-20, >20 Gy to the active bone marrow), leukemia risk clearly increased with the number of CT cycles. In contrast, among patients with a given number of CT cycles, risk of leukemia did not consistently increase with higher radiation dose. Taken together, the preponderance of available data does not support the hypothesis that the combination of CT and RT confers a higher risk of leukemia than CT alone.

Therapeutic intensification with autologous stem cell transplantation (ASCT) is commonly used for lymphoma patients who relapse. In some series relatively high actuarial risks (4–15% at 5 years) of AML and myelodysplasia (MDS) have been observed after ASCT for HL [147]. Evidence suggests that much of the risk is related to intensive pretransplant CT. Forrest and colleagues compared the risk of AML/MDS between 202 patients who had undergone ASCT and 1530 patients who underwent conventional therapy for HL [158]. The 15-year cumulative incidence of developing AML/MDS was 1.1% (95% confidence interval (CI), 0.6-1.8) for those treated with conventional therapy alone and 3.6% (95%) CI, 0.9–9.6) for those undergoing ASCT (P = 0.22). In multivariate analysis, leukemia risk was also not influenced by ASCT [158].

The risk of AML in relation to treatmentassociated acute and chronic bone marrow toxicity has been examined in only two studies to date [88, 159]. Significantly increased risks of leukemia were found among patients who developed thrombocytopenia, either in response to initial therapy or during follow-up. After adjustment for type and amount of CT, patients who showed a \geq 70% decrease in platelet counts after initial treatment had an approximately fivefold higher risk of developing leukemia than patients who showed a decrease of 50% or less [88]. Severe acute thrombocytopenia may indicate greater bioavailability of cytotoxic drugs, which would likely contribute to the development of leukemia. In support of these findings, a study of leukemia risk after autologous bone marrow transplantation found that low platelet counts at the time of transplant were predictive for MDS/AML development in NHL patients who had received intensive pretransplant CT [159].

The prognosis of AML/MDS after HL treatment is poor, with only 15% of patients surviving more than 1 year without apparent survival benefit from allogenic stem cell transplantation in most studies [147, 156, 160]. However, in a recent GHSG study, treatment-related AML/ MDS patients who underwent ASCT did have a significantly better outcome with median OS not reached after a median follow-up of 41 months (P < 0.001) [101].

26.5.2 Risk Factors of Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma (NHL)

Krikorian and colleagues were the first to demonstrate a clearly elevated cumulative risk of NHL after HL, which amounted to 4.4% at 10 years in patients given both irradiation and CT [161]. Other investigators have confirmed the increased risk of NHL in HL survivors [11, 32, 37, 43–45, 47, 52, 53, 55, 88]. In most studies the SIR for NHL ranges between 6 and 36 compared to the risk in the general population (Table 26.1). Because the background risk of NHL in the general population is low, this rather high SIR translates into a relatively low cumulative risk, ranging between 2% and 4% at 20 years [32, 45, 52, 162] in the larger studies. AER in these studies has varied between 5 and 13 excess NHL cases per 10,000 patients per year [43, 44, 47]. The majority of cases of second NHL diagnosed after HL are intermediate or aggressive histology B-cell lymphomas [162–164] and more often arise in extranodal sites than primary NHL [163, 165] (79% of cases [164]).

The causes of the excess risk are not well understood. The results of older studies may in part reflect misclassification of the primary lymphoma in the absence of modern lymphoma immunophenotyping protocols (i.e., NHL misdiagnosed as HL) [163]. Rueffer et al. [163] reported that an expert panel of pathologists reviewing the histology of 4104 HL patients (GHSG) rejected 114 cases (2.1%) initially diagnosed as HL and rediagnosed them as primary NHL. Only very few studies included a review of diagnostic pathology slides of the second NHL and original HL in order to avoid such misclassification [53, 88, 163].

Other investigators argued that the clinical, histologic, and immunophenotypic findings of NHL among HL survivors were analogous to those of NHL arising in immunosuppressed patients, suggesting that immunodeficiency plays a role in the pathogenesis of second NHL in these patients [164]. This view is supported by several studies in which risk did not vary appreciably between treatments [11, 52, 90]. However, in other studies, the risk of NHL was found to be lowest among patients treated with RT alone and highest among patients who received intensive combined modality treatment, both initially and for relapse [55, 88, 161, 163, 166]. In the study by Schaapveld et al. HL patients who received a cumulative dose of procarbazine $>8400 \text{ mg/m}^2$, as compared with no chemotherapy, had 2.7-fold higher risk of subsequent NHL [45]. Also, patients who had undergone splenectomy had a (1.8-fold) higher risk of NHL than did those who had not undergone splenectomy.

There exists some evidence indicating that transformation to NHL may be part of the natural history of the lymphocyte predominant subtype of HL [165, 167], which might explain the association between lymphocyte predominant HL and NHL risk observed in the International Database on HL [55] and the British National Lymphoma Investigation [168]. It may be that more than one of the above mechanisms operates in the development of NHL following treatment for HL. Although transformation to NHL may be part of the natural history of some types of HL, the role of intensive combined modality treatment and its associated immunosuppression should be explored further. Future studies should incorporate a review of all slides of the second NHL and the original HL diagnosis by an expert pathologist.

26.5.3 Risk Factors for Breast Cancer

For female HL survivors, the strongly elevated risk of breast cancer following radiotherapy is a major concern [24, 32, 45, 47, 169–173]. In several studies breast cancer is the largest contributor to the AER of second malignancy in female survivors [27, 32, 37, 43, 45, 174]. The magnitude of the risk of breast cancer after HL and risk factors for its development have been discussed in several review papers [59, 175–177]. The risk of breast cancer after HL greatly depends on age at treatment, time since treatment, therapies given for HL, and hormonal factors.

The overall SIR of breast cancer in female HL survivors has been only modestly elevated in studies which included all age groups (about 1.5to 2.5-fold risk increases compared to the general population) (Table 26.1) [27, 29, 43, 47, 54, 55, 154]. Larger SIRs (four- to sevenfold) were observed in studies with predominantly young adults or a large proportion of long-term survivors [24, 32, 37, 38, 45, 178]. AERs for all ages have been around 2-10 per 10,000 HL patients per year (Table 26.3) [47, 52, 54], again with a greater risk (20-60 per 10,000 per year) in studies with predominantly young adults and/or a large proportion of long-term survivors [24, 32, 37, 45, 178]. Several studies covering the whole age range have shown that the SIR of developing breast cancer increases dramatically with younger age at first irradiation (or start of treatment) (Fig. 26.2) [24, 27, 32, 37, 47, 52, 178, 179]. A strong trend of increasing SIR of breast cancer with decreasing age at exposure has also been observed in other radiation-exposed cohorts [65, 180–182]. In a Dutch study, survivors who had radiation treatment before 21 years of age had an 18-fold increased risk of breast cancer compared with the general female population of the same age; women irradiated at ages 21-30 had a sevenfold increased risk, women irradiated at ages 31–40 had a 3.2-fold increased risk, and a small, nonsignificant increase was observed for women irradiated at ages 41 or older (SIR, 1.4) [24]. Similar trends have been reported by others [37, 45, 47, 52, 178, 183]. Most studies confirm that breast cancer risk is not elevated compared with the general population in women treated after age 35-40; a recent analysis however showed a SIR of 1.7 (95% CI, 1.1–2.5) even for women treated at ages 35–50 [45]. In most studies the AER of breast cancer is also highest after treatment before age 20 (Fig. 26.2) [24, 27, 32, 37, 45, 47, 178], but shows little variation between exposure at ages 20-35.

The SIR of breast cancer after HL treatment at ages under 16 has ranged from 17 to 458 [90, 91], with most studies showing SIRs around 50-100 [32, 37, 38, 43, 179, 184–186]. Three studies with long-term follow-up reported that, among women treated before age 20, the SIR compared with agematched peers from the general population did not consistently vary by age at treatment [43, 70, 184]. This would imply that prepubertal radiation exposure increases the risk to the same extent as exposure during puberty. In the atomic bomb survivors and other radiation-exposed cohorts, the RR also did not vary by exposure age for ages under 20 [187]. However, a recent British study reported greatest SIRs for female HL survivors irradiated around age 14 [178] and a subsequent case-control study observed especially high risk when women were irradiated within 6 months of menarche [188] possibly associated with pubertal breast development. A recent report from the US Childhood Cancer Survivor Study in women treated with chest (60% of whom were treated for Hodgkin lymphoma) corroborated this finding. Women who began chest radiotherapy within 1

year of menarche had a 1.7-fold increased breast cancer compared to women who began chest radiotherapy further from menarche (excluding women who never experienced menarche) [189]. However, in a recent Dutch case-control study, menarche age close to start of radiation therapy did not modify breast cancer risk [72].

The large variation in breast cancer risks across studies, especially in young patients, is not surprising in view of the large differences between series in important variables such as the proportion of patients irradiated, duration of follow-up, and completeness of follow-up. Studies with more complete follow-up have generally found lower risks of breast cancer [32, 43, 47, 91, 178, 186] than those in which follow-up was less complete or not addressed [89, 90, 179].

Incomplete follow-up may lead to overestimation of second malignancy risk if patients who remain well lose contact with clinical follow-up, while those with second cancer come to attention because of this. In a Dutch study, with (nearly) complete follow-up, the 30-year cumulative incidence of breast cancer (accounting for death as a competing risk) amounted to 26% for women first treated before age 21% and 19% for those treated at ages 20-30 [24]. In pediatric HL survivors, Bhatia and colleagues estimated a cumulative incidence of breast cancer of 13.9% at age 40 years, reaching 20.1% at age 45 years [43]. Castellino and colleagues [158] recently reported a cumulative incidence of breast cancer of 18.3% at 30 years after treatment in the US Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Travis and collaborators estimated treatment-specific cumulative risks of breast cancer: for an HL survivor who was treated at age 25 with a chest radiation dose of at least 40 Gy without alkylating agents, the cumulative absolute risks of breast cancer by age 35, 45, and 55 years were 1.4% (95% CI, 0.9-2.1), 11.1% (95% CI, 7.4–16.3), and 29.0% (95% CI, 20.2– 40.1), respectively [190]. Based on 373 breast cancer patients in a very large HL cohort (n = 5002 women), Swerdlow and colleagues [178] recently reported modeled cumulative risks by follow-up time, age at treatment, and treatment modalities. For women who received 40 Gy under age 20, and no alkylating chemotherapy

(see below), the cumulative incidence of breast cancer at 40 years was 48%. The case-control study by Krul et al. predicted cumulative incidence of breast cancer based on radiation field and dose and duration of post-RT ovarian function [72]. The predicted 35-year cumulative incidence of breast cancer was highest (27.6%) for women with high-dose mantle field RT (\geq 35 Gy) and long duration of ovarian function (≥ 20 years). Women with lower-dose (in)complete mantle field RT (\leq 35 Gy) and long duration of ovarian function had a lower cumulative incidence (22.4%), followed by women with highdose (in)complete mantle field RT and medium and short durations of ovarian function (19.6%) when 10-19% and 13.8% when <10 years, respectively).

The high risk of breast cancer after HL is largely attributable to chest radiotherapy. Since, in many cohort studies, 80% to over 90% of patients received supradiaphragmatic RT, few studies could estimate RRs associated with such RT compared with no RT [24, 32, 37, 43]. In the British cohort reported by Swerdlow and colleagues, a large proportion of patients had been treated with CT alone, and no increased risk of breast cancer was observed among them [44].

Elevated risk of breast cancer develops late and is typically observed from 15 years after first treatment (Fig. 26.7) [24, 32, 37, 45, 47, 52, 178]. This strong trend in breast cancer risk by time since treatment strongly indicates a radiogenic effect. Furthermore, in several cohort studies, almost all cases of breast cancer after HL have been in or at the margin of the radiation field, for instance, 16 of 16 cases [90], 22 of 26 [38], and all of 42 cases [43] in three publications. In the large, population-based study by Travis and colleagues [42], 49% of 105 breast cancers occurred in the unblocked chest treatment field, 24% under the lung blocks, 15% at the blocked edge, 8% in the field edge, and 3% out of beam, with relative location not known for one patient.

Four case-control studies investigated the effects of RT dose and other treatment factors on breast cancer risk [41, 42, 70, 72]. In all studies, the risk of breast cancer increased significantly with higher RT dose up to the highest dose levels



Fig. 26.7 Risk of breast cancer after Hodgkin lymphoma by follow-up time (1698 female Dutch Hodgkin Lymphoma patients; From: Schaapveld et al. [45])

> Follow-up interval (in years) AER per 10,000 person-years absolute excess risk/10,000 patients/year

20-24

(Table 26.4; see for details: Sect. 26.4.1). A recent large Dutch study examined the effect of radiation fields (volume) on the risk of breast cancer up to more than 30 years after treatment of HL [45]. Among 1698 female 5-year survivors, treated for HL between ages 15 and 50 years

5-9

10-14

15-19

(median follow-up time of 19.1 years), 183 cases of breast cancer were identified (overall SIR, 4.7; AER, 54.3 per 10,000 per year). Importantly, a complete mantle field RT (involving the axillary, mediastinal, and neck nodes) was associated with a 2.7-fold (95% CI, 1.4–5.3) increased risk of

25-29

30-34

35+

breast cancer compared to a similarly dosed (36–44 Gy) supradiaphragmatic field which excluded the axilla.

In six studies, patients who received both CT and RT had significantly decreased risk (about halved) compared to those treated with RT alone, and the RT-related risks were attenuated by treatment with alkylating agents [24, 41, 42, 45, 60, 189]. Risk of breast cancer decreased with increasing number of alkylating agent cycles (P = 0.003 for trend); the RR associated with nine or more cycles of alkylating CT compared with no alkylating CT was 0.2 (95% CI, 0.1-0.7) (Table 26.4) [42]. In the large Dutch cohort study, chemotherapy regimens with higher cumulative procarbazine doses seemed to be associated with a greater reduction of breast cancer risk, with 30% and 70% risk reductions for regimens with less than 8.4 g/m^2 procarbazine and more than 8.4 g/m² procarbazine, respectively [45]. The substantial risk reduction associated with CT appears to be due to the high frequency of premature menopause in CT-treated patients [24, 41, 72, 188] and the resulting reduction in the exposure to ovarian hormones. De Bruin et al. [24] reported that 30% of all women reached menopause before age 41; such an early menopause was associated with a 60% (95% CI, 20-80%) reduced risk of breast cancer (Table 26.5). A strong decrease in breast cancer risk (about 60%) has also been observed among women who received a castrating dose of 5 Gy or more to the ovaries, compared with those who received lower doses (Fig. 26.4) [24, 41, 42, 70, 72, 189]. These results indicate that ovarian hormones are a crucial factor to promote tumorigenesis once RT has produced an initiating event.

In the Dutch study a long versus short duration of intact ovarian function after radiation was a strong predictor of subsequent breast cancer risk. Women with less than 10 years of intact ovarian function after radiotherapy had a 70% (95% CI, 40–80%) decreased risk of breast cancer compared with women with 10–20 years of ovarian function after irradiation, while those with more than 20 years of intact ovarian function after radiotherapy had 5.3-fold (95% CI,

Table 26.5 Effects of fertile lifespan after irradiation to the breast on breast cancer risk (invasive and DCIS) according to age at first treatment^a

	All ages		Age	Age
	<41	Age <21	21-30	31-40
No. of patients	715	201	323	191
No. of events	98	36	40	22
	HR	HR	HR	HR
	(95%	(95%	(95%	(95%
	CI)	CI)	CI)	CI)
Model 3 ^b				
Premature menop	pause ^c			
Menopause at	1	1 (Ref)	1 (Ref)	1 (Ref)
age 41 or later	(Ref)			
Menopause	0.4	0.2	0.1	1.3
before age 41	(0.2–	(0.0-	(0.0-	(0.4–
	0.8)	0.8)	0.5)	3.6)
Model 4 ^b				
Years intact ovari	ian functio	on ^c		
<10 years	0.3	0.1	0.1	1.2
	(0.2–	(0.0-	(0.0-	(0.4–
	0.6)	0.6)	0.3)	3.5)
10-20 years	1	1 (Ref)	1 (Ref)	1 (Ref)
	(Ref)			
>20 years	5.3	11.9	6.0	3.2
	(2.9–	(3.7–	(2.3–	(0.3–
	9.9)	37.9)	15.4)	30.7)

BC breast cancer, *IBC* invasive breast cancer, *DCIS* ductal carcinoma in situ, *HR* hazard ratio, *Ref* referent, *RT* radiation therapy

^aAdapted from de Bruin et al. [24]

^bAdjusted for each other, radiation field size, age at first RT to the breast and time since first RT to the breast, smoking, obesity, nulliparity, oral contraceptive use; calendar time was used as the time scale

^cUnknown age at menopause was modeled as a separate category

2.9–9.9) increased risk of breast cancer (Table 26.5). These risk reductions were observed both among women treated before age 21 and among those treated between ages 21 and 30. Among women treated between ages 31 and 40, cumulative exposure to endogenous estrogens was not associated with risk for breast cancer, possibly because these women were closer to natural menopause at time of treatment [24]. These findings were subsequently confirmed in a British case-control study, which reported a 3.6-fold risk increase for women having 25 or more premenopausal years after start of RT [188], and a recent Dutch case-control study which found a 3.8-fold risk increase for women who had an

intact ovarian function for 25 years or more postchest RT [72].

It is not yet known whether current less gonadotoxic CT, such as ABVD, is also associated with reduced risk of RT-associated breast cancer risk. Furthermore, it is important to know whether hormone replacement therapy (HRT) for CT-induced premature menopause affects RT-associated breast cancer risk. HRT is an established risk factor for breast cancer [191, 192] and might counteract the protective effect of CT. The recent Dutch case-control study found that use of HRT ≥ 2 years did not increase breast cancer risk (OR, 0.9; 95% CI, 0.3-2.3) in women with an early menopause (menopause <45 years) whereas breast cancer risk was nonsignificantly increased among women without early menopause (OR, 3.7; 95% CI, 0.97-14.0; P for interaction 0.06) [72]. A limitation of this study was that few women used HRT for long durations. Another recent study of breast cancer risk after chest RT in childhood did not find a clear association of HRT use and breast cancer risk [189].

Individual genetic susceptibility may also modify the risk of treatment-related BC. Recently, a Dutch case-control study showed, using a GWAS approach, that radiation-induced BC risk may indeed be modified by individual genomic variation. Individuals in the highest tertile of a polygenic risk score (RT-interaction-PRS), composed of nine SNPs that showed statistically significant interaction with RT on BC risk, had a 1.6-fold higher BC risk than those in the lowest tertile (see Sect. 26.4.3) [143].

A few recent studies investigated whether the clinicopathological characteristics of radiationinduced breast cancers differ from those of sporadic breast cancers [193–196]. Remarkably, one study found that breast cancers following RT for HL have a molecular profile distinct from idiopathic breast cancers from age-matched women. Another study reported more estrogen-negative breast cancers after RT for HL [195]. However, two other studies did not find much difference in breast cancer-specific survival between women with breast cancer after HL and other agematched breast cancer patients [194, 196].

In summary, from 10 to 15 years after treatment chest RT at young ages is associated with a very high dose-dependent risk of breast cancer that persists for at least 40 years. This hazard needs to be borne in mind both when selecting treatment for girls and young women with HL and when following up patients treated in this way. Gonadotoxic chemotherapy such as the MOPP regimen reduced the increased risk of breast cancer from RT through the induction of premature menopause. Reductions of radiation dose and field size (replacement of mantle RT by involved field/involved node/site RT) in current treatment protocols are expected to result in lower breast cancer risk. Nonetheless, although in the recently published Dutch cohort study a large proportion of the female survivors treated in 1990-2000 had received less extensive supradiaphragmatic irradiation fields, there was little evidence that these women had a lower risk of breast cancer than those who were treated in earlier periods [45]. One possible explanation for this finding is that the concomitant change towards less gonadotoxic chemotherapy may have partly counterbalanced the effects of lower radiation exposure of the breasts.

26.5.4 Risk Factors for Lung Cancer

Next to breast cancer, lung cancer accounts in many studies for the largest absolute excess of solid malignancy after HL [45, 47, 52]. An excellent review of risk factors for lung cancer after HL has been published [197]. The risk of lung cancer after HL depends on time since treatment, age at treatment, treatments administered for HL, and smoking.

The SIR of lung cancer is hardly increased in the first 5 years after treatment, with larger SIRs (five or greater), thereafter until at least 25 years [32, 37, 39, 45, 47, 52, 198].

A meta-analysis of 21 observational studies reported that the relative risk of lung cancer varied little with age at HL treatment and was highest among those aged 15–24 years (RR = 8.6) and lowest among those aged >55 years at first treatment (RR = 2.9) [190]. Dores et al. [47] reported that the SIR of lung cancer decreased from a 5.5fold increase (compared with the general population) for patients diagnosed before age 21 to a 1.5-fold excess for patients diagnosed at age 61 or above. In the UK study [52], the SIRs for lung cancer decreased from 20-fold among those diagnosed before age 25 to a 2.2-fold excess for patients diagnosed at age 55 or above.

A large international collaborative casecontrol study examined lung cancer risk in relation to the radiation dose to the specific location in the lung in which cancer later developed [39]. This study included 222 lung cancer patients and 444 matched controls (patients with HL in whom lung cancer had not been diagnosed) [39, 73]. Case patients developed lung cancer after an average of 10.8 years. The risk increased with increasing radiation dose to the area of the lung in which cancer later developed (P for trend <0.001; see also Table 26.4). The risk estimates for the highest dose categories of 30.0–39.9 Gy and \geq 40 Gy compared with no RT were 8.5 (95%) CI, 3.3–24) and 6.3 (95% CI, 2.2–19), respectively, suggesting that the risk might level off at very high doses [73]. This study also addressed the modifying effects of the patient's smoking habits on RT-associated risks. The increased RRs from smoking appeared to multiply the elevated risks from radiation (Table 26.6). This implies that there are very large AERs for lung cancer among irradiated patients who smoke.

Chemotherapy for HL can also increase the risk of lung cancer [39, 44, 52, 53, 197, 199]. The British National Lymphoma Investigation cohort study of 5519 patients [44, 52] showed a significantly elevated risk of lung cancer following CT alone, with the SIR (3.3; 95% CI, 2.2–4.7) compared with the general population being of similar magnitude to that observed in patients treated with either RT (SIR = 2.9; 95% CI, 1.9–4.1) or mixed modality treatment (SIR = 4.3; 95% CI, 2.9–6.2).

Two large case-control studies have investigated the separate and joint roles of CT, radiation, and smoking in detail [39, 74]. In both reports, there was a clear trend of increasing lung cancer risk with greater number of cycles of **Table 26.6** Risk of lung cancer in patients with HL according to type of treatment and smoking category

		RR (95% CI) by smoking				
Treatment	for Hodgkin	category (no. of case patients;				
lymphoma		control patients) ^a				
Radiation	Alkylating	Nonsmoker,	Moderate-			
≥5 Gy	agents	light, other ^b	heavy ^c			
No	No	1.0 ^d	6.0			
			(1.9–			
			20.4)			
Yes	No	7.2 (2.9–21.2)	20.2			
			(6.8–68)			
No	Yes	4.3 (1.8–11.7)	16.8			
			(6.2–53)			
Yes	Yes	7.2 (2.8–21.6)	49.1			
			(15.1–			
			187)			

Adapted from Travis et al. and Swerdlow et al. [39, 44] *RR* relative risk, *95% CI 95%* confidence interval ^aRepresents estimated tobacco smoking habit 5 years before diagnosis date of lung cancer and corresponding date in control patients, with the use of information recorded up to 1 year before these dates

^bThis group includes nonsmokers, light current cigarette smokers (less than one pack per day), former cigarette smokers, smokers of cigar and pipes only, and patients for whom tobacco smoking habit was not stated

^cModerate (one to two packs per day) and heavy (two or more packs per day) current cigarette smokers ^dReference group

alkylating CT (*P* trend < 0.001 (Table 26.4) [39]) or MOPP-CT (P trend = 0.07 [74]). In the study by Travis and colleagues [39], data were also collected on cumulative dose of individual cytotoxic drugs. Among patients treated with MOPP, increasing total dose of mechlorethamine or procarbazine was strongly associated with increasing lung cancer risk when evaluated separately (P trend for dose for each <0.001) [39]. Risk of lung cancer after treatment with alkylating agents and radiation together was as expected if individual excess RRs were summed: RRs of 4.2 (95% CI, 2.1–8.8) were observed for patients given alkylating agents alone, 5.9 (95% CI, 2.7-13.5) for patients treated with RT alone (>5 Gy), and 8.0 (95% CI, 3.6–18.5) for those who received combined modality treatment, compared with the reference group of patients who received no alkylating agents and had less than 5 Gy of radiation [39]. As was observed for the joint effects of smoking and RT, the risks from smoking appeared to at least multiply risks from alkylating CT (Table 26.6) [39].

Smoking remains a major cause of lung cancer in patients treated for HL, as is evident from the observation that only 7 out of 222 cases included in the study by Travis and colleagues [39] occurred in patients who had never smoked. Further, it was estimated that 9.6% of all lung cancers were due to treatment, 24% were due to smoking, but 63% were due to treatment and smoking in combination; the remainder (3%) represented tumors in which neither smoking nor treatment played a role.

In summary, both supradiaphragmatic RT and CT contribute to the elevated risk of lung cancer after HL. In addition, the above data suggest that patients with HL who smoke will have a considerably greater risk of lung cancer after chest RT and/or CT than those who do not smoke, and this is in accord with experience in other radiationexposed groups [200]. As a consequence, smokers who have received chest RT should be particularly strongly advised to refrain from smoking. The evidence implicating specific chemotherapeutic agents as carcinogenic to the lung is less clear. It is not yet known whether modern CT regimens other than MOPP also increase the risk of lung cancer. The role of lung cancer screening in HL patients has not yet been assessed; international collaboration is needed to study the efficacy of screening with low-dose spiral computer tomography [36, 197]. Of note, a cost-effectiveness simulation study, which also used data from low-dose spiral computer tomography screening in 53 HL survivors showed that screening may be cost-effective for smoking HL survivors treated with mantle field irradiation but likely was not for irradiated nonsmokers although a small life expectancy benefit of computer tomography screening was also noted for nonsmokers [201].

26.6 Clinical Implications

Hodgkin lymphoma survivors who are at high risk of developing second cancers can be identified largely based on their prior treatment exposures, current age, and latency since treatment. Expert opinion-based recommendations have been published advocating the early onset of breast cancer screening starting 8 years following mediastinal RT, for women who are age 25-30 [202]. However, a large proportion of irradiated females do not perceive their risk of breast cancer to be much higher than that of the general population [203–206]. As a consequence, a large proportion of HL survivors do currently not undergo appropriate breast surveillance at young ages, when their risk is already high and comparable to that of carriers of BRCA1/2 mutations. A study among irradiated female childhood cancer survivors in the USA showed that 64% of those aged 25-39 years and 24% of those 40-50 years old had not had a mammography in the past 2 years, despite a guideline recommending annual screening [206]. Although early breast surveillance starting is recommended following mediastinal RT, the optimal screening modalities have yet to be determined. However, because mammography is less sensitive in young women with dense breast tissue, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) should be considered at younger ages. Ng et al. reported the outcome of 148 women screened with breast MRI ≥ 8 years after mediastinal RT (given prior to age 35 years) and a median age at enrollment of 43 years [207]. The sensitivity of mammogram alone, MRI alone, or both modalities was 68%, 67%, and 94%. Specificity for each modality alone or in combination was not significantly different. One of 18 cancer cases detected had lymph node involvement. A similar study of MRI breast screening among survivors of pediatric HL in which the median age at first screening was 30 years reported that the sensitivity for mammogram alone, MRI alone, and both modalities was 70%, 80%, and 100%, respectively, with all detected cases being node negative. In both studies, mammography was more likely to miss invasive cancers than MRI [208]. These studies suggest that the addition of MRI to mammography will detect breast cancers at earlier stages than mammography alone. However, the use of MRI will also likely increase the proportion of false-positive test results. In a simulation study Hodgson et al. predicted that using alternating mammography/MRI-based screening 79% of all participating female adolescent Hodgkin lymphoma survivors treated with mediastinal radiotherapy would experience at least one false-positive test over the course of screening [209]. However, this study also showed that early initiation of BC screening could reduce BC mortality among these women with one breast cancer death prevented for every 80 women invited to MRI screening (when treated at age 15 years and starting screening at age 25 years).

Some have recommended that patients who received para-aortic RT and/or procarbazine should undergo colorectal cancer screening starting 10–15 years following treatment [49]. Two recent colonoscopy screening study showed a high prevalence of advanced colorectal neoplasia in patients previously treated with abdominal and/or pelvic RT and/or procarbazine-containing CT. In the study by Daly et al., in 54 survivors (mostly Hodgkin lymphoma patients) who underwent colonoscopy screening at a median age of 45% years, 44.4% had polyps detected, deemed precancerous in 15 patients [210]. Rigter et al. also found a high prevalence of advanced colorectal neoplasia (advanced adenomas 14%, advanced serrated lesions 12%) in 101 Hodgkin lymphoma survivors who underwent colonoscopy (median age at colonoscopy of 51 years) [211]. The prevalence of advanced adenomas was nonsignificantly increased among Hodgkin lymphoma survivors compared to 1426 population controls (9%; P = 0.08), but Hodgkin lymphoma survivors significantly more often had advanced serrated lesions (12% vs. 4% in controls) and serrated polyposis syndrome (6% vs. 0% in controls).

Screening for secondary lung cancer is more controversial. As noted above, older HL survivors treated with alkylating agents or mantle RT are at significantly increased risk of developing lung cancer, particularly if they are smokers. One important consideration is that the absolute risk of lung cancer is low among nonsmoking patients treated before age 30 with contemporary chemotherapy (e.g., ABVD, doxorubicin, bleomycin, vinblastine, dacarbazine), and it is unlikely that they would benefit from screening. Risk is highest among those treated with chest RT and alkylator-based chemotherapy at ages >40 years, particularly if they are smokers. The results of studies evaluating the efficacy of screening with spiral computer tomography in other high-risk patients may illuminate the potential benefit to HL survivors, but it currently remains investigational.

Physicians should make a special effort to dissuade HL patients from smoking. While most survivors will be aware that smoking increases their risk of lung cancer, they may not understand that their smoking-related risk may be significantly greater than that of others with whom they share the activity, and they are often not aware of the poor prognosis associated with lung cancer. Advice on smoking cessation during an office visit can improve quit rates, and pharmacotherapy improves the probability of success [212].

While retrospective studies describing the RT-related risk of SMNs have been useful in identifying groups of survivors for whom the early utilization of cancer screening may be worthwhile, and have been instrumental in motivating the development of clinical trials which are now much less reliant on the use of RT, it is important to recognize that they often have limited value in counseling contemporary patients about the risks of modern therapy. For example, most of the widely cited cohort studies of SMN risk among HL survivors include patients treated in the 1960s [43, 45–48, 52, 54]. At that time, RT was often the sole primary treatment for earlystage HL, and the RT fields typically encompassed the whole neck, bilateral axillae, the entire length of the mediastinum, the spleen, and paraaortic nodes. Patients were often prescribed 40-45 Gy and treated without customized lung shielding [213, 214]. Since that time, several important improvements have occurred in the delivery of RT that reduce the normal tissue prescribed doses exposure: are typically 20–30 Gy for adults and 21 Gy for children. With the development of involved-field RT (IFRT), the omission of uninvolved axillary nodes from these historic fields significantly reduced the average breast tissue dose compared to historic mantle RT fields, and follow-up studies of more limited field RT suggest that the associated reduction in irradiated breast volume translates into a clinically significant reduction in SMN risk [24, 34, 45]. More recently, utilization of modern image guidance and the further reduction in target volumes limited to only the initially involved lymph nodes, referred to as involved node RT (INRT) or involved site RT (ISRT), further reduce the dose to normal tissues, with early results demonstrating excellent disease control [86, 87]. As our understanding of the relationship between radiation dose and SMN risk develops, it should be possible to create predictive models of the SMN risk associated with modern HL treatments based on epidemiologic observations and radiobiologic principles.

Obviously the best means of limiting radiationrelated SMN is to avoid using RT when it does not contribute meaningfully to HL cure. Data are emerging that may facilitate the selection of a greater proportion of patients for treatment with chemotherapy alone based on clinical or biologic factors. As an increasing proportion of patients are treated with chemotherapy alone, an emerging issue will be the extent to which contemporary chemotherapy regimens contribute to the risk of solid tumors. Many patients in second cancer studies received MOPP chemotherapy, and the increased SMN risks associated with alkylator-based chemotherapy do not apply to patients receiving, for example, ABVD chemotherapy. Patients treated initially with chemotherapy alone, even in more recent years, have increased risks of solid cancers [27, 44, 52], though it is unknown what regimens or specific agents might account for this risk. A British National Lymphoma Investigation (BNLI) study found that the relative risk of second cancer was raised among 2366 HL survivors treated with chemotherapy alone (RR = 2.0), although the risk was not increased among the 257 patients treated with doxorubicin, bleomycin, vinblastine, and dacarbazine (ABVD) [44]. As noted above, genetic susceptibility likely plays a role in the development of treatment-related SMNs, but it is unlikely that an abnormal allele in a single candidate gene will account for a significant proportion of SMNs. New cohorts should be assembled to create a resource of biologic samples that would facilitate study of the molecular biology of second cancers.

Finally, when interpreting results of second cancer studies, it must be kept in mind that the problem of treatment-induced malignancies has arisen by virtue of the successes of HL treatment. The SMN risk of treatment must be balanced against the potential benefit in terms of curing patients' HL. For example, 10-year follow-up of patients treated with "dose-escalated" BEACOPP demonstrated that this regimen increased the risk of secondary AML compared to COPP/ABVD (0.4% vs. 3.0%), but produced a significant improvement in overall survival (75% vs. 86%) [215]. These outcomes highlight both the challenges of improving the cure rate for high-risk patients without adding clinically significant toxicity and the importance of considering SMN risk in the context of the beneficial effects that the exposures under study may have on curing the primary HL.

References

- Josting A (2010) Prognostic factors in Hodgkin lymphoma. Expert Rev Hematol 3(5):583–592
- Aleman BM, van den Belt-Dusebout AW, Klokman WJ, van't Veer MB, Bartelink H, van Leeuwen FE (2003) Long-term cause-specific mortality of patients treated for Hodgkin's disease. J Clin Oncol 21(18):3431–3439
- Ng AK, Bernardo MP, Weller E, Backstrand KH, Silver B, Marcus KC et al (2002) Long-term survival and competing causes of death in patients with earlystage Hodgkin's disease treated at age 50 or younger. J Clin Oncol 20(8):2101–2108
- Aviles A, Neri N, Cuadra I, Alvarado I, Cleto S (2000) Second lethal events associated with treatment for Hodgkin's disease: a review of 2980 patients treated in a single Mexican institute. Leuk Lymphoma 39(3–4):311–319
- Arseneau JC, Sponzo RW, Levin DL, Schnipper LE, Bonner H, Young RC et al (1972) Nonlymphomatous malignant tumors complicating Hodgkin's disease. N Engl J Med 287(22):1119–1122
- Bonadonna G, De Lena M, Banfi A, Lattuada A (1973) Secondary neoplasms in malignant lymphomas after intensive therapy. N Engl J Med 288:1242–1243
- Canellos GP, Arseneau JC, DeVita VT, Whang-Peng J, Johnson RE (1975) Second malignancies complicating Hodgkin's disease in remission. Lancet 1:947–949

- Coleman CN, Williams CJ, Flint A, Glatstein EJ, Rosenberg SA, Kaplan HS (1977) Hematologic neoplasia in patients treated for Hodgkin's disease. N Engl J Med 297:1249–1252
- Boivin JF, Hutchison GB, Lyden M, Godbold J, Chorosh J, Schottenfeld D (1984) Second primary cancers following treatment of Hodgkin's disease. J Natl Cancer Inst 72:233–241
- Henry-Amar M (1983) Second cancers after radiotherapy and chemotherapy for early stages of Hodgkin's disease. J Natl Cancer Inst 71(5):911–916
- Tucker MA, Coleman CN, Cox RS, Varghese A, Rosenberg SA (1988) Risk of second cancers after treatment for Hodgkin's disease. N Engl J Med 318:76–81
- 12. van Leeuwen FE, Somers R, Taal BG, van Heerde P, Coster B, Dozeman T et al (1989) Increased risk of lung cancer, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, and leukemia following Hodgkin's disease. J Clin Oncol 7:1046–1058
- Boice JD Jr, Storm HH, Curtis RE, Jensen OM, Kleinerman RA, Jensen HS et al (1985) Introduction to the study of multiple primary cancers. Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 68:3–9
- Travis LB, Wahnefried WD, Allan JM, Wood ME, Ng AK (2013) Aetiology, genetics and prevention of secondary neoplasms in adult cancer survivors. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 10(5):289–301
- Oeffinger KC, van Leeuwen FE, Hodgson DC (2011) Methods to assess adverse health-related outcomes in cancer survivors. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 20(10):2022–2034
- Kaldor JM, Day NE, Shiboski S (1986) Epidemiological studies of anticancer drug carcinogenicity. IARC Sci Publ 78:189–201
- MacDougall BK, Weinerman BH, Kemel S (1981) Second malignancies in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Cancer 48(6):1299–1301
- Schoenberg BS, Myers MH (1977) Statistical methods for studying multiple primary malignant neoplasms. Cancer 40:1892–1898
- Kaplan EL, Meier P (1958) Non-parametric estimation from incomplete observations. J Am Stat Assoc 53:457–481
- 20. Darrington DL, Vose JM, Anderson JR, Bierman PJ, Bishop MR, Chan WC et al (1994) Incidence and characterization of secondary myelodysplastic syndrome and acute myelogenous leukemia following high-dose chemoradiotherapy and autologous stemcell transplantation for lymphoid malignancies. J Clin Oncol 12:2527–2534
- 21. Mauch PM, Kalish LA, Marcus KC, Shulman LN, Krill E, Tarbell NJ et al (1995) Long-term survival in Hodgkin's disease: relative impact of mortality, second tumors, infection, and cardiovascular disease. Cancer J Sci Am 1:33–42
- Pepe MS, Mori M (1993) Kaplan-Meier, marginal or conditional probability curves in summarizing competing risks failure time data? Stat Med 12:737–751

- Gooley TA, Leisenring W, Crowley J, Storer BE (1999) Estimation of failure probabilities in the presence of competing risks: new representations of old estimators. Stat Med 18(6):695–706
- 24. De Bruin ML, Sparidans J, van 't Veer MB, Noordijk E, Louwman MW, Zijlstra JM et al (2009) Breast cancer risk in female survivors of Hodgkin's lymphoma; lower risk after smaller radiation volumes. J Clin Oncol 27(26):4229–4231
- Breslow NE, Day NE (1987) Statistical methods in cancer research. Volume II – the design and analysis of cohort studies. IARC Sci Publ 82:1–406
- Cox DR (1972) Regression models and life-tables. J R Stat Soc B 334:187–202
- Hodgson DC, Gilbert ES, Dores GM, Schonfeld SJ, Lynch CF, Storm H et al (2007) Long-term solid cancer risk among 5-year survivors of Hodgkin's lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 25(12):1489–1497
- Boice JD Jr, Day NE, Andersen A, Brinton LA, Brown R, Choi NW et al (1985) Second cancers following radiation treatment for cervical cancer. An international collaboration among cancer registries. J Natl Cancer Inst 74:955–975
- 29. Kaldor JM, Day NE, Band P, Choi NW, Clarke EA, Coleman MP et al (1987) Second malignancies following testicular cancer, ovarian cancer and Hodgkin's disease: an international collaborative study among cancer registries. Int J Cancer 39:571–585
- 30. Dores GM, Coté TR, Travis LB (2006) New malignancies following Hodgkin lymphoma, non-Hodgkin lymphoma and myeloma. In: Curtis RE, Freedman D, Ron E, Ries LAG, Hacker DG, Edwards BK, Tucker MA, Fraumeni JF Jr (eds) New malignancies among cancer survivors: SEER cancer registries 1973–2000. NIH Publications, Bethesda, MA, pp 397–436
- Storm HH, Prener A (1985) Second cancer following lymphatic and hematopoietic cancers in Denmark, 1943–80. Natl Cancer Inst Monogr 68:389–409
- 32. van Leeuwen FE, Klokman WJ, van't Veer MB, Hagenbeek A, Krol AD, Vetter UA et al (2000) Long-term risk of second malignancy in survivors of Hodgkin's disease treated during adolescence or young adulthood. J Clin Oncol 18(3):487–497
- Kaldor JM, Day NE, Clarke EA, van Leeuwen FE, Henry-Amar M, Fiorentino MV et al (1990) Leukemia following Hodgkin's disease. N Engl J Med 322:7–13. [see comments]
- 34. Franklin J, Pluetschow A, Paus M, Specht L, Anselmo AP, Aviles A et al (2006) Second malignancy risk associated with treatment of Hodgkin's lymphoma: meta-analysis of the randomised trials. Ann Oncol 17(12):1749–1760
- Travis LB (2006) The epidemiology of second primary cancers. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 15(11):2020–2026
- 36. Morton LM, Swerdlow AJ, Schaapveld M, Ramadan S, Hodgson DC, Radford J et al (2014) Current knowledge and future research directions in treatment-related second primary malignancies. EJC Suppl 12:5–17

- 37. Ng AK, Bernardo MV, Weller E, Backstrand K, Silver B, Marcus KC et al (2002) Second malignancy after Hodgkin disease treated with radiation therapy with or without chemotherapy: long-term risks and risk factors. Blood 100(6):1989–1996
- Hancock SL, Tucker MA, Hoppe RT (1993) Breast cancer after treatment of Hodgkin's disease. J Natl Cancer Inst 85:25–31
- 39. Travis LB, Gospodarowicz M, Curtis RE, Clarke EA, Andersson M, Glimelius B et al (2002) Lung cancer following chemotherapy and radiotherapy for Hodgkin's disease. J Natl Cancer Inst 94(3):182–192
- Morton LM, Dores GM, Curtis RE, Lynch CF, Stovall M, Hall P et al (2013) Stomach cancer risk after treatment for Hodgkin lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 31(27):3369–3377
- 41. van Leeuwen FE, Klokman W, Stovall M, Dahler E, van't Veer M, Noordijk E et al (2003) Roles of radiation dose, chemotherapy, and hormonal factors in breast cancer following Hodgkin's disease. J Natl Cancer Inst 95(13):971–980
- 42. Travis LB, Hill DA, Dores GM, Gospodarowicz M, van Leeuwen FE, Holowaty E et al (2003) Breast cancer following radiotherapy and chemotherapy among young women with Hodgkin's disease. JAMA 290(4):465–475
- 43. Bhatia S, Yasui Y, Robison LL, Birch JM, Bogue MK, Diller L et al (2003) High risk of subsequent neoplasms continues with extended follow-up of childhood Hodgkin's disease: report from the Late Effects Study Group. J Clin Oncol 21(23):4386–4394
- 44. Swerdlow AJ, Higgins CD, Smith P, Cunningham D, Hancock BW, Horwich A et al (2011) Second cancer risk after chemotherapy for Hodgkin's lymphoma: a Collaborative British Cohort Study. J Clin Oncol 29(31):4096–4104
- 45. Schaapveld M, Aleman BM, van Eggermond AM, Janus CP, Krol AD, van der Maazen RW (2015) Second cancer risk up to 40 years after treatment for Hodgkin's lymphoma. N Engl J Med 373:2499–2511
- 46. Sud A, Thomsen H, Sundquist K, Houlston RS, Hemminki K (2017) Risk of second cancer in hodgkin lymphoma survivors and influence of family history. J Clin Oncol 35(14):1584–1590
- 47. Dores GM, Metayer C, Curtis RE, Lynch CF, Clarke EA, Glimelius B et al (2002) Second malignant neoplasms among long-term survivors of Hodgkin's disease: a population-based evaluation over 25 years. J Clin Oncol 20(16):3484–3494
- 48. van Eggermond AM, Schaapveld M, Janus CP, de Boer JP, Krol AD, Zijlstra JM, van der Maazen RW, Kremer LC, van Leerdam ME, Louwman MW, Visser O, De Bruin ML, Aleman BM, van Leeuwen FE (2017) Infradiaphragmatic irradiation and high procarbazine doses increase colorectal cancer risk in Hodgkin lymphoma survivors. Br J Cancer 117(3):306–314
- 49. Castellino SM, Geiger AM, Mertens AC, Leisenring WM, Tooze JA, Goodman P et al (2011) Morbidity and mortality in long-term survivors of Hodgkin lymphoma: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Blood 117(6):1806–1816

- 50. Constine L, Tarbell N, Hudson M, Schwartz C, Fisher S, Muhs A et al (2008) Subsequent malignancies in children treated for Hodgkin's disease: associations with gender and radiation dose. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 72(1):24–33
- 51. Basu S, Schwartz C, Fisher S, Hudson M, Tarbell N, Muhs A et al (2008) Unilateral and bilateral breast cancer in women surviving pediatric Hodgkin's disease. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 72(1):34–40
- 52. Swerdlow AJ, Barber JA, Hudson GV, Cunningham D, Gupta RK, Hancock BW et al (2000) Risk of second malignancy after Hodgkin's disease in a collaborative British cohort: the relation to age at treatment. J Clin Oncol 18(3):498–509
- 53. Swerdlow AJ, Douglas AJ, Hudson GV, Hudson BV, Bennett MH, MacLennan KA (1992) Risk of second primary cancers after Hodgkin's disease by type of treatment: analysis of 2846 patients in the British National Lymphoma Investigation. BMJ 304:1137–1143
- 54. van Leeuwen FE, Klokman WJ, Hagenbeek A, Noyon R, van den Belt-Dusebout AW, van Kerkhoff EH et al (1994) Second cancer risk following Hodgkin's disease: a 20-year follow-up study. J Clin Oncol 12:312–325
- 55. Henry-Amar M (1992) Second cancer after the treatment for Hodgkin's disease: a report from the international database on Hodgkin's disease. Ann Oncol 3(Suppl 4):117–128
- 56. Birdwell SH, Hancock SL, Varghese A, Cox RS, Hoppe RT (1997) Gastrointestinal cancer after treatment of Hodgkin's disease. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 37:67–73
- Ahsan H, Neugut AI (1998) Radiation therapy for breast cancer and increased risk for esophageal carcinoma. Ann Intern Med 128(2):114–117
- Antman KH, Corson JM, Li FP, Greenberger J, Sytkowski A, Henson DE et al (1983) Malignant mesothelioma following radiation exposure. J Clin Oncol 1(11):695–700
- Clemons M, Loijens L, Goss P (2000) Breast cancer risk following irradiation for Hodgkin's disease. Cancer Treat Rev 26(4):291–302
- Preston DL, Ron E, Tokuoka S, Funamoto S, Nishi N, Soda M et al (2007) Solid cancer incidence in atomic bomb survivors: 1958–1998. Radiat Res 168(1):1–64
- 61. Ron E, Lubin JH, Shore RE, Mabuchi K, Modan B, Pottern LM et al (1995) Thyroid cancer after exposure to external radiation: a pooled analysis of seven studies. Radiat Res 141:259–277
- 62. Metayer C, Lynch CF, Clarke EA, Glimelius B, Storm H, Pukkala E et al (2000) Second cancers among long-term survivors of Hodgkin's disease diagnosed in childhood and adolescence. J Clin Oncol 18(12):2435–2443
- Preston DL, Mattsson A, Holmberg E, Shore R, Hildreth NG, Boice JD (2002) Radiation effects on breast cancer risk: a pooled analysis of eight cohorts. Radiat Res 158:220–235
- 64. Preston DL, Shimizu Y, Pierce DA, Suyama A, Mabuchi K (2003) Studies of mortality of atomic

bomb survivors. Report 13: solid cancer and noncancer disease mortality: 1950–1997. Radiat Res 160(4):381–407

- Ronckers C, Erdmann C, Land C (2005) Radiation and breast cancer: a review of current evidence. Breast Cancer Res 7(1):21–32
- 66. Boice JD Jr, Blettner M, Kleinerman RA, Stovall M, Moloney WC, Engholm G et al (1987) Radiation dose and leukemia risk in patients treated for cancer of the cervix. J Natl Cancer Inst 79:1295–1311
- 67. Curtis RE, Boice JD Jr, Stovall M, Bernstein L, Holowaty E, Karjalainen S et al (1994) Relationship of leukemia risk to radiation dose following cancer of the uterine corpus. J Natl Cancer Inst 86:1315–1324
- Preston DL, Kusumi S, Tomonaga M, Izumi S, Ron E, Kuramoto A et al (1994) Cancer incidence in atomic bomb survivors. Part III. Leukemia, lymphoma and multiple myeloma, 1950–1987. Radiat Res 137:S68– S97. [published erratum appears in Radiat Res 1994 Jul;139(1):129]
- 69. Boice JD Jr, Engholm G, Kleinerman RA, Blettner M, Stovall M, Lisco H et al (1988) Radiation dose and second cancer risk in patients treated for cancer of the cervix. Radiat Res 116:3–55
- Inskip PD, Robison LL, Stovall M, Smith SA, Hammond S, Mertens AC et al (2009) Radiation dose and breast cancer risk in the childhood cancer survivor study. J Clin Oncol 27(24):3901–3907
- 71. Neglia JP, Robison LL, Stovall M, Liu Y, Packer RJ, Hammond S et al (2006) New primary neoplasms of the central nervous system in survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. J Natl Cancer Inst 98(21):1528–1537
- 72. Krul IM, Opstal-van Winden AWJ, Aleman BMP, Janus CPM, van Eggermond AM, De Bruin ML et al (2017) Breast cancer risk after radiation therapy for hodgkin lymphoma: influence of gonadal hormone exposure. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 99(4):843–853
- 73. Gilbert ES, Stovall M, Gospodarowicz M, van Leeuwen FE, Andersson M, Glimelius B et al (2003) Lung cancer after treatment for Hodgkin's disease: focus on radiation effects. Radiat Res 159(2):161–173
- 74. Swerdlow AJ, Schoemaker MJ, Allerton R, Horwich A, Barber JA, Cunningham D et al (2001) Lung cancer after Hodgkin's disease: a nested case-control study of the relation to treatment. J Clin Oncol 19(6):1610–1618
- Morton LM, Gilbert ES, Stovall M, van Leeuwen FE, Dores GM, Lynch CF (2014) Risk of esophageal cancer following radiotherapy for Hodgkin lymphoma. Haematologica 99(10):e193–e196
- Hawkins MM, Wilson LM, Burton HS, Potok MH, Winter DL, Marsden HB et al (1996) Radiotherapy, alkylating agents, and risk of bone cancer after childhood cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 88(5):270–278
- 77. Tucker MA, D'Angio GJ, Boice JD Jr, Strong LC, Li FP, Stovall M et al (1987) Bone sarcomas linked to radiotherapy and chemotherapy in children. N Engl J Med 317:588–593

- Jenkinson HC, Winter DL, Marsden HB, Stovall MA, Stevens MCG, Stiller CA et al (2007) A study of soft tissue sarcomas after childhood cancer in Britain. Br J Cancer 97(5):695–699
- 79. van den Belt-Dusebout AW, Aleman BM, Besseling G, De Bruin ML, Hauptmann M, van 't Veer LJ et al (2009) Roles of radiation dose and chemotherapy in the etiology of stomach cancer as a second malignancy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 75(5):1420–1429
- Dores GM, Curtis RE, van Leeuwen FE, Stovall M, Hall P, Lynch CF et al (2014) Pancreatic cancer risk after treatment of Hodgkin lymphoma. Ann Oncol 25(10):2073–2079
- 81. Sigurdson A, Ronckers C, Mertens A, Stovall M, Smith S, Liu Y et al (2005) Primary thyroid cancer after a first tumour in childhood (the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study): a nested case-control study. Lancet 365(9476):2014–2023
- 82. Bhatti P, Veiga L, Ronckers CM, Sigurdson AJ, Stovall M, Smith SA, Weathers R, Leisenring W, Mertens AC, Hammond S, Friedman DL, Neglia JP, Meadows AT, Donaldson SS, Sklar CA, Robison LL, Inskip PD (2010) Risk of second primary thyroid cancer after radiotherapy for a childhood cancer in a large cohort study: an update from the childhood cancer survivor study. Radiat Res 174(6):741–752
- 83. Tucker MA, Jones PH, Boice JD Jr, Robison LL, Stone BJ, Stovall M et al (1991) Therapeutic radiation at a young age is linked to secondary thyroid cancer. The Late Effects Study Group. Cancer Res 51:2885–2888
- 84. O'Brien MM, Donaldson SS, Balise RR, Whittemore AS, Link MP (2010) Second malignant neoplasms in survivors of pediatric Hodgkin's lymphoma treated with low-dose radiation and chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol 28(7):1232–1239
- 85. Koh E, Tran T, Heydarian M, Sachs R, Tsang R, Brenner D et al (2007) A comparison of mantle versus involved-field radiotherapy for Hodgkin's lymphoma: reduction in normal tissue dose and second cancer risk. Radiat Oncol 2(1):13
- 86. Specht L, Yahalom J, Illidge T, Berthelsen AK, Constine LS, Eich HT et al (2014) Modern radiation therapy for Hodgkin lymphoma: field and dose guidelines from the International Lymphoma Radiation Oncology Group (ILROG). Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 89:854–862
- 87. Maraldo MV, Brodin NP, Aznar MC, Vogelius IR, Munck af Rosenschold P, Munck af Rosenschold P et al (2013) Estimated risk of cardiovascular disease and secondary cancers with modern highly conformal radiotherapy for early-stage mediastinal Hodgkin lymphoma. Ann Oncol 8:2113–2118
- 88. van Leeuwen FE, Chorus AM, van den Belt-Dusebout AW, Hagenbeek A, Noyon R, van Kerkhoff EH et al (1994) Leukemia risk following Hodgkin's disease: relation to cumulative dose of alkylating agents, treatment with teniposide combinations, number of episodes of chemotherapy, and bone marrow damage. J Clin Oncol 12:1063–1073

- Bhatia S, Robison LL, Oberlin O, Greenberg M, Bunin G, Fossati-Bellani F et al (1996) Breast cancer and other second neoplasms after childhood Hodgkin's disease. N Engl J Med 334:745–751
- 90. Mauch PM, Kalish LA, Marcus KC, Coleman CN, Shulman LN, Krill E et al (1996) Second malignancies after treatment for laparotomy staged IA-IIIB Hodgkin's disease: long-term analysis of risk factors and outcome. Blood 87(9):3625–3632
- 91. Sankila R, Garwicz S, Olsen JH, Dollner H, Hertz H, Kreuger A et al (1996) Risk of subsequent malignant neoplasms among 1,641 Hodgkin's disease patients diagnosed in childhood and adolescence: a population-based cohort study in the five Nordic countries. Association of the Nordic cancer registries and the Nordic society of pediatric hematology and oncology. J Clin Oncol 14:1442–1446
- 92. Swerdlow AJ, Barber JA, Horwich A, Cunningham D, Milan S, Omar RZ (1997) Second malignancy in patients with Hodgkin's disease treated at the Royal Marsden Hospital. Br J Cancer 75:116–123
- 93. Curtis RE, Boice JD Jr, Stovall M, Bernstein L, Greenberg RS, Flannery JT et al (1992) Risk of leukemia after chemotherapy and radiation treatment for breast cancer. N Engl J Med 326:1745–1751. [see comments]
- 94. Leone G, Fianchi L, Pagano L, Voso MT (2010) Incidence and susceptibility to therapyrelated myeloid neoplasms. Chem Biol Interact 184(1–2):39–45
- Levine EG, Bloomfield CD (1992) Leukemias and myelodysplastic syndromes secondary to drug, radiation, and environmental exposure. Semin Oncol 19:47–84. [Review]
- 96. Michels SD, McKenna RW, Arthur DC, Brunning RD (1985) Therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome: a clinical and morphologic study of 65 cases. Blood 65:1364–1372
- Pedersen-Bjergaard J, Philip P, Larsen SO, Jensen G, Byrsting K (1990) Chromosome aberrations and prognostic factors in therapy-related myelodysplasia and acute nonlymphocytic leukemia. Blood 76:1083–1091
- Sandoval C, Pui CH, Bowman LC, Heaton D, Hurwitz CA, Raimondi SC et al (1993) Secondary acute myeloid leukemia in children previously treated with alkylating agents, intercalating topoisomerase II inhibitors, and irradiation. J Clin Oncol 11:1039–1045
- 99. Valagussa PA, Bonadonna G (1995) Carcinogenic effects of cancer treatment. In: Peckham M, Pinedo H, Veronesi U (eds) Oxford textbook of oncology. Oxford University Press, Oxford, p 2348
- 100. IARC (2000) International agency for research on cancer: some antiviral and antineoplastic drugs, and other pharmaceutical agents. IARC Monogr Eval Carcinog Risk Chem Hum 76:177
- 101. Eichenauer DA, Thielen I, Haverkamp H, Franklin J, Behringer K, al HT (2014) Therapy-related acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndromes in patients with Hodgkin lymphoma: a report

from the German Hodgkin Study Group. Blood 123(11):1658–1664

- 102. Pedersen-Bjergaard J, Rowley JD (1994) The balanced and the unbalanced chromosome aberrations of acute myeloid leukemia may develop in different ways and may contribute differently to malignant transformation. Blood 83:2780–2786. Review
- 103. Pedersen-Bjergaard J, Philip P (1991) Balanced translocations involving chromosome bands 11q23 and 21q22 are highly characteristic of myelodysplasia and leukemia following therapy with cytostatic agents targeting at DNA-topoisomerase II [letter]. Blood 78:1147–1148
- 104. Rubin CM, Arthur DC, Woods WG, Lange BJ, Nowell PC, Rowley JD et al (1991) Therapy-related myelodysplastic syndrome and acute myeloid leukemia in children: correlation between chromosomal abnormalities and prior therapy. Blood 78:2982–2988
- 105. Morton LM, Onel K, Curtis RE, Hungate E, Armstrong GT (2014) The rising incidence of second cancers: patterns of occurrence and identification of risk factors for children and adults. Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book 2014:e57–e67
- 106. André M, Mounier N, Leleu X, Sonet A, Brice P, Henry-Amar M et al (2004) Second cancers and late toxicities after treatment of aggressive non-Hodgkin lymphoma with the ACVBP regimen: a GELA cohort study on 2837 patients. Blood 103(4):1222–1228
- 107. Mudie NY, Swerdlow AJ, Higgins CD, Smith P, Qiao Z, Hancock BW et al (2006) Risk of second malignancy after non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: a British Cohort Study. J Clin Oncol 24(10):1568–1574
- 108. Henderson TO, Rajaraman P, Stovall M, Constine LS, Olive A, Smith SA et al (2012) Risk factors associated with secondary sarcomas in childhood cancer survivors: a report from the childhood cancer survivor study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 84(1):224–230
- 109. Henderson TO, Oeffinger K, Whitton J, Leisenring W, Neglia J, Meadows A, Crotty C, Rubin DT, Diller L, Inskip P, Smith SA, Stovall M, Constine LS, Hammond S, Armstrong GT, Robison LL, Nathan PC (2012) Secondary gastrointestinal cancer in childhood cancer survivors: a cohort study. Ann Intern Med 156(11):757–766
- 110. Veiga LHS, Bhatti P, Ronckers CM, Sigurdson AJ, Stovall M, Smith SA et al (2012) Chemotherapy and thyroid cancer risk: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 21(1):92–101
- 111. Travis LB, Curtis RE, Glimelius B, Holowaty EJ, van Leeuwen FE, Lynch CF et al (1995) Bladder and kidney cancer following cyclophosphamide therapy for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 87:524–530
- 112. Bermejo JL, Sundquist J, Hemminki K (2009) Bladder cancer in cancer patients: population-based estimates from a large Swedish study. Br J Cancer 101(7):1091–1099

- 113. Nottage K, McFarlane J, Krasin MJ, Li C, Srivastava D, Robison LL et al (2012) Secondary colorectal carcinoma after childhood cancer. J Clin Oncol 30(20):2552–2558
- 114. Kleinerman R, Tucker M, Tarone R, Abramson D, Seddon J, Stovall M et al (2005) Risk of new cancers after radiotherapy in long-term survivors of retinoblastoma: an extended follow-up. J Clin Oncol 23(10):2272–2279
- 115. Marees T, Moll A, Imhof S, de Boer M, Ringens P, van Leeuwen F (2008) Risk of second malignancies in survivors of retinoblastoma: more than 40 years of follow-up. J Natl Cancer Inst 100(24):1771–1779
- 116. Wong FL, Boice JD Jr, Abramson DH, Tarone RE, Kleinerman RA, Stovall M et al (1997) Cancer incidence after retinoblastoma. Radiation dose and sarcoma risk. JAMA 278(15):1262–1267. [see comments]
- 117. Andersson A, Enblad G, Tavelin B, Bjorkholm M, Linderoth J, Lagerlof I et al (2008) Family history of cancer as a risk factor for second malignancies after Hodgkin's lymphoma. Br J Cancer 98(5):1001–1005
- 118. Bhatia S, Meadows AT, Robison LL (1997) Family history of patients with breast cancer after treatment of Hodgkin's disease in childhood. Late Effects Study Group. Lancet 350(9081):888–889
- 119. Kony SJ, de Vathaire F, Chompret A, Shamsaldim A, Grimaud E, Raquin MA et al (1997) Radiation and genetic factors in the risk of second malignant neoplasms after a first cancer in childhood. Lancet 350(9071):91–95. [see comments]
- 120. Landgren O, Bjorkholm M, Montgomery SM, Hjalgrim H, Sjoberg J, Goldin LR et al (2006) Personal and family history of autoimmune diabetes mellitus and susceptibility to young-adult-onset Hodgkin lymphoma. Int J Cancer 118(2):449–452
- 121. Nichols KE, Levitz S, Shannon KE, Wahrer DC, Bell DW, Chang G et al (1999) Heterozygous germline ATM mutations do not contribute to radiationassociated malignancies after Hodgkin's disease. J Clin Oncol 17(4):1259
- 122. Prochazka M, Hall P, Granath F, Czene K (2006) Family history of breast cancer and young age at diagnosis of breast cancer increase risk of second primary malignancies in women: a population-based cohort study. Br J Cancer 95(9):1291–1295
- 123. Goldfrank D, Chuai S, Bernstein J, Cajal T, Lee J, Alonso MC et al (2006) Effect of mammography on breast cancer risk in women with mutations in BRCA1 or BRCA2. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 15(11):2311–2313
- 124. Narod S, Lubinski J, Ghadirian P, Lynch H, Moller P, Foulkes W et al (2006) Screening mammography and risk of breast cancer in BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers: a case-control study. Lancet Oncol 7(5):402–406
- 125. Andrieu N, Easton DF, Chang-Claude J, Rookus MA, Brohet R, Cardis E et al (2006) Effect of chest X-rays on the risk of breast cancer among BRCA1/2 mutation carriers in the international BRCA1/2 carrier cohort study: a report from

the EMBRACE, GENEPSO, GEO-HEBON, and IBCCS Collaborators' Group. J Clin Oncol 24(21):3361–3366

- 126. Gronwald J, Cybulski C, Piesiak W, Suchy J, Huzarski T, Byrski T et al (2009) Cancer risks in first-degree relatives of CHEK2 mutation carriers: effects of mutation type and cancer site in proband. Br J Cancer 100(9):1508–1512
- 127. Pijpe A, Andrieu N, Easton DF, Kesminiene A, Cardis E, Noguès C et al (2012) Exposure to diagnostic radiation and risk of breast cancer among carriers of BRCA1/2 mutations: retrospective cohort study (GENE-RAD-RISK). BMJ 345:e5660
- 128. Broeks A, Russell NS, Floore AN, Urbanus JH, Dahler EC, van TV (2000) Increased risk of breast cancer following irradiation for Hodgkin's disease is not a result of ATM germline mutations. Int J Radiat Biol 76(5):693–698
- 129. Tabori U, Malkin D (2008) Risk stratification in cancer predisposition syndromes: lessons learned from novel molecular developments in Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Cancer Res 68(7):2053–2057
- 130. Boyle JM, Spreadborough AR, Greaves MJ, Birch JM, Varley JM, Scott D (2002) Delayed chromosome changes in gamma-irradiated normal and Li-Fraumeni fibroblasts. Radiat Res 157(2):158–165
- 131. Parshad R, Price FM, Pirollo KF, Chang EH, Sanford KK (1993) Cytogenetic response to G2-phase X irradiation in relation to DNA repair and radiosensitivity in a cancer-prone family with Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Radiat Res 136(2):236–240
- 132. Larson RA, Wang Y, Banerjee M, Wiemels J, Hartford C, Beau MML et al (1999) Prevalence of the inactivating 609C→T polymorphism in the NAD(P)H: quinone oxidoreductase (NQO1) gene in patients with primary and therapy-related myeloid leukemia. Blood 94(2):803–807
- 133. Allan JM, Wild CP, Rollinson S, Willett EV, Moorman AV, Dovey GJ et al (2001) Polymorphism in glutathione S-transferase P1 is associated with susceptibility to chemotherapy-induced leukemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci 98(20):11592–11597
- 134. Worrillow LJ, Smith AG, Scott K, Andersson M, Ashcroft AJ, Dores GM et al (2008) Polymorphic MLH1 and risk of cancer after methylating chemotherapy for Hodgkin lymphoma. J Med Genet 45(3):142–146
- 135. Worrillow LJ, Travis LB, Smith AG, Rollinson S, Smith AJ, Wild CP et al (2003) An intron splice acceptor polymorphism in hMSH2 and risk of leukemia after treatment with chemotherapeutic alkylating agents. Clin Cancer Res 9(8):3012–3020
- 136. Seedhouse C, Bainton R, Lewis M, Harding A, Russell N, Das-Gupta E (2002) The genotype distribution of the XRCC1gene indicates a role for base excision repair in the development of therapy-related acute myeloblastic leukemia. Blood 100(10):3761–3766
- Seedhouse C, Faulkner R, Ashraf N, Das-Gupta E, Russell N (2004) Polymorphisms in genes involved

in homologous recombination repair interact to increase the risk of developing acute myeloid leukemia. Clin Cancer Res 10(8):2675–2680

- 138. Bhatla D, Gerbing RB, Alonzo TA, Mehta PA, Deal K, Elliott J et al (2007) DNA repair polymorphisms and outcome of chemotherapy for acute myelogenous leukemia: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. Leukemia 22(2):265–272
- 139. Ma YP, van Leeuwen FE, Cooke R, Broeks A, Enciso-Mora V, Olver B et al (2012) FGFR2 genotype and risk of radiation-associated breast cancer in Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood 119(4):1029–1031
- 140. Chung CC, Chanock SJ (2011) Current status of genome-wide association studies in cancer. Hum Genet 130(1):59–78
- 141. Knight JA, Skol AD, Shinde A, Hastings D, Walgren RA, Shao J et al (2009) Genome-wide association study to identify novel loci associated with therapyrelated myeloid leukemia susceptibility. Blood 113(22):5575–5582
- 142. Best T, Li D, Skol AD, Kirchhoff T, Jackson SA, Yasui Y et al (2011) Variants at 6q21 implicate PRDM1 in the etiology of therapy-induced second malignancies after Hodgkin's lymphoma. Nat Med 17(8):941–943
- 143. Opstal-van Winden AWJ, de Haan HG, Hauptmann M, Schmidt MK, Broeks A, Russell NS et al (2019) Genetic susceptibility to radiation-induced breast cancer after Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood 133(10):1130–1139
- 144. Morton LM, Sampson JN, Armstrong GT, Chen TH, Hudson MM, Karlins E et al (2017) Genome-wide association study to identify susceptibility loci that modify radiation-related risk for breast cancer after childhood cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 1:109(11)
- 145. Kerns SL, Stock RG, Stone NN, Blacksburg SR, Rath L, Vega A et al (2013) Genome-wide association study identifies a region on chromosome 11q14.3 associated with late rectal bleeding following radiation therapy for prostate cancer. Radiol Oncol 107(3):372–376
- 146. Kerns SL, Stone NN, Stock RG, Rath L, Ostrer H, Rosenstein BS (2013) A 2-stage genome-wide association study to identify single nucleotide polymorphisms associated with development of urinary symptoms after radiotherapy for prostate cancer. J Urol 190(1):102–108
- 147. van Leeuwen FE, Swerdlow AJ, Travis LB (2007) Second cancers after treatment of Hodgkin lymphoma. In: Hoppe RT, Mauch P, Armitage JO, Diehl V, LM W (eds) Hodgkin lymphoma, 2nd edn. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, PA, pp 347–370
- 148. Travis LB, Hodgson DC, Allen J, van Leeuwen FE (2008) Second cancers. In: DeVita VTHS Jr, Rosenberg SA (eds) Cancer: principles and practice of oncology, 8th edn. Lippincott, Philadelphia, PA, pp 2718–2742
- 149. Bhatia S, Robison LL, Oberlin O (1996) Late effects of treatment for childhood Hodgkin's disease. N Engl J Med 335:353

- 150. Diehl V, Franklin J, Pfreundschuh M, Lathan B, Paulus U, Hasenclever D et al (2003) Standard and increased-dose BEACOPP chemotherapy compared with COPP-ABVD for advanced Hodgkin's disease. N Engl J Med 348(24):2386–2395
- 151. Cimino G, Papa G, Tura S, Mazza P, Rossi Ferrini PL, Bosi A et al (1991) Second primary cancer following Hodgkin's disease: updated results of an Italian multicentric study. J Clin Oncol 9:432–437
- 152. Devereux S, Selassie TG, Vaughan Hudson G, Vaughan Hudson B, Linch DC (1990) Leukaemia complicating treatment for Hodgkin's disease: the experience of the British National Lymphoma Investigation. BMJ 301:1077–1080
- 153. Abrahamsen JF, Andersen A, Hannisdal E, Nome O, Abrahamsen AF, Kvaloy S et al (1993) Second malignancies after treatment of Hodgkin's disease: the influence of treatment, follow-up time, and age. J Clin Oncol 11:255–261. [see comments]
- 154. Boivin JF, Hutchison GB, Zauber AG, Bernstein L, Davis FG, Michel RP et al (1995) Incidence of second cancers in patients treated for Hodgkin's disease. J Natl Cancer Inst 87:732–741. [see comments]
- 155. Schonfeld SJ, Gilbert ES, Dores GM, Lynch CF, Hodgson DC, Hall P et al (2006) Acute myeloid leukemia following Hodgkin lymphoma: a populationbased study of 35,511 patients. J Natl Cancer Inst 98(3):215–218
- 156. Koontz MZ, Horning SJ, Balise R, Greenberg PL, Rosenberg SA, Hoppe RT et al (2013) Risk of therapy-related secondary leukemia in Hodgkin lymphoma: the Stanford University experience over three generations of clinical trials. J Clin Oncol 31(5):592–598
- 157. Andrieu JM, Ifrah N, Payen C, Fermanian J, Coscas Y, Flandrin G (1990) Increased risk of secondary acute nonlymphocytic leukemia after extended-field radiation therapy combined with MOPP chemotherapy for Hodgkin's disease. J Clin Oncol 8:1148–1154. [see comments]. [Review]
- 158. Forrest DL, Hogge DE, Nevill TJ, Nantel SH, Barnett MJ, Shepherd JD et al (2005) High-dose therapy and autologous hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation does not increase the risk of second neoplasms for patients with Hodgkin's lymphoma: a comparison of conventional therapy alone versus conventional therapy followed by autologous hematopoietic stem-cell transplantation. J Clin Oncol 23(31):7994–8002
- 159. Stone RM, Neuberg D, Soiffer R, Takvorian T, Whelan M, Rabinowe SN et al (1994) Myelodysplastic syndrome as a late complication following autologous bone marrow transplantation for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 12:2535–2542
- 160. Josting A, Wiedenmann S, Franklin J, May M, Sieber M, Wolf J et al (2003) Secondary myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndromes in patients treated for Hodgkin's disease: a report from the German Hodgkin's Lymphoma Study Group. J Clin Oncol 21(18):3440–3446

- 161. Krikorian JG, Burke JS, Rosenberg SA, Kaplan HS (1979) Occurrence of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma after therapy for Hodgkin's disease. N Engl J Med 300:452–458
- 162. Amini RM, Enblad G, Sundstrom C, Glimelius B (1997) Patients suffering from both Hodgkin's disease and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: a clinicopathological and immuno-histochemical populationbased study of 32 patients. Int J Cancer 71(4):510–516
- 163. Rueffer U, Josting A, Franklin J, May M, Sieber M, Breuer K et al (2001) Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma after primary Hodgkin's disease in the German Hodgkin's Lymphoma Study Group: incidence, treatment, and prognosis. J Clin Oncol 19(7):2026–2032
- 164. Zarate-Osorno A, Medeiros LJ, Longo DL, Jaffe ES (1992) Non-Hodgkin's lymphomas arising in patients successfully treated for Hodgkin's disease. A clinical, histologic, and immunophenotypic study of 14 cases. Am J Surg Pathol 16:885–895
- 165. Bennett MH, MacLennan KA, Vaughan Hudson G, Vaughan Hudson B (1991) Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma arising in patients treated for Hodgkin's disease in the BNLI: a 20-year experience. British National Lymphoma Investigation. Ann Oncol 2(Suppl 2):83–92
- 166. Prosper F, Robledo C, Cuesta B, Rifon J, Borbolla JR, Pardo J et al (1994) Incidence of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in patients treated for Hodgkin's disease. Leuk Lymphoma 12:457–462
- 167. Kim H, Zelman RJ, Fox MA, Bennett JM, Berard CW, Butler JJ et al (1982) Pathology panel for lymphoma clinical studies: a comprehensive analysis of cases accumulated since its inception. J Natl Cancer Inst 68:43–67
- 168. Swerdlow AJ, Douglas AJ, Vaughan Hudson G, Vaughan Hudson B, MacLennan KA (1993) Risk of second primary cancer after Hodgkin's disease in patients in the British National Lymphoma Investigation: relationships to host factors, histology and stage of Hodgkin's disease, and splenectomy. Br J Cancer 68:1006–1011
- 169. Donaldson SS, Hancock SL (1996) Second cancers after Hodgkin's disease in childhood. N Engl J Med 334:792–794. [editorial; comment] [see comments]
- 170. Wolf J, Schellong G, Diehl V (1997) Breast cancer following treatment of Hodgkin's disease more reasons for less radiotherapy? Eur J Cancer 33(14):2293–2294. [editorial; comment]
- 171. Goss PE, Sierra S (1998) Current perspectives on radiation-induced breast cancer. J Clin Oncol 16(1):338–347. [see comments]. [Review] [85 refs]
- 172. Neglia JP, Friedman DL, Yasui Y, Mertens AC, Hammond S, Stovall M et al (2001) Second malignant neoplasms in five-year survivors of childhood cancer: childhood cancer survivor study. J Natl Cancer Inst 93(8):618–629
- 173. Wolden SL, Hancock SL, Carlson RW, Goffinet DR, Jeffrey SS, Hoppe RT (2000) Management of breast cancer after Hodgkin's disease. J Clin Oncol 18(4):765–772
- 174. Yahalom J (2003) Breast cancer after Hodgkin disease: hope for a safer cure. JAMA 290(4):529–531

- 175. Horwich A, Swerdlow AJ (2004) Second primary breast cancer after Hodgkin's disease. Br J Cancer 90(2):294–298
- 176. Deniz K, O'Mahony S, Ross G, Purushotham A (2003) Breast cancer in women after treatment for Hodgkin's disease. Lancet Oncol 4(4):207–214
- 177. Ibrahim EM, Abouelkhair KM, Kazkaz GA, Elmasri OA, Al-Foheidi M (2012) Risk of second breast cancer in female Hodgkin's lymphoma survivors: a meta-analysis. BMC Cancer 12:197
- 178. Swerdlow AJ, Cooke R, Bates A, Cunningham D, Falk SJ, Gilson D et al (2012) Breast cancer risk after supradiaphragmatic radiotherapy for Hodgkin's lymphoma in England and Wales: a National Cohort Study. J Clin Oncol 30(22):2745–2752
- 179. Aisenberg AC, Finkelstein DM, Doppke KP, Koerner FC, Boivin JF, Willett CG (1997) High risk of breast carcinoma after irradiation of young women with Hodgkin's disease. Cancer 79:1203–1210
- 180. Tokunaga M, Land CE, Tokuoka S, Nishimori I, Soda M, Akiba S (1994) Incidence of female breast cancer among atomic bomb survivors, 1950–1985. Radiat Res 138:209–223
- 181. Hildreth NG, Shore RE, Dvoretsky PM (1989) The risk of breast cancer after irradiation of the thymus in infancy. N Engl J Med 321(19):1281–1284
- 182. Boice JD Jr, Preston D, Davis FG, Monson RR (1991) Frequent chest X-ray fluoroscopy and breast cancer incidence among tuberculosis patients in Massachusetts. Radiat Res 125(2):214–222
- 183. Hancock SL, Donaldson SS, Hoppe RT (1993) Cardiac disease following treatment of Hodgkin's disease in children and adolescents. J Clin Oncol 11:1208–1215. [see comments]
- 184. Kenney LB, Yasui Y, Inskip PD, Hammond S, Neglia JP, Mertens AC et al (2004) Breast cancer after childhood cancer: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Ann Intern Med 141(8):590–597
- 185. Travis LB, Curtis RE, Boice JD Jr (1996) Late effects of treatment for childhood Hodgkin's disease. N Engl J Med 335(5):352–353. [letter; comment]
- 186. Wolden SL, Lamborn KR, Cleary SF, Tate DJ, Donaldson SS (1998) Second cancers following pediatric Hodgkin's disease. J Clin Oncol 16(2):536–544. [see comments]
- 187. Land CE, Tokunaga M, Koyama K, Soda M, Preston DL, Nishimori I et al (2003) Incidence of female breast cancer among atomic bomb survivors, Hiroshima and Nagasaki, 1950–1990. Radiat Res 160(6):707–717
- 188. Cooke R, Jones ME, Cunningham D, Falk SJ, Gilson D, Hancock BW et al (2013) Breast cancer risk following Hodgkin lymphoma radiotherapy in relation to menstrual and reproductive factors. Br J Cancer 108(11):2399–2406
- 189. Moskowitz CS, Chou JF, Sklar CA, Barnea D, Ronckers CM, Friedman DN et al (2017) Radiationassociated breast cancer and gonadal hormone exposure: a report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. Br J Cancer 117(2):290–299

- 190. Travis LB, Hill D, Dores GM, Gospodarowicz M, van Leeuwen FE, Holowaty E et al (2005) Cumulative absolute breast cancer risk for young women treated for Hodgkin lymphoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 97(19):1428–1437
- 191. Beral V (2003) Breast cancer and hormonereplacement therapy in the Million Women Study. Lancet 362(9382):419–427
- 192. CGHFBC (1997) Collaborative Group on hormonal factors in breast cancer, breast cancer and hormone replacement therapy: collaborative reanalysis of data from 51 epidemiological studies of 52705 women with breast cancer and 108411 women without breast cancer. Lancet 350(9084):1047–1059
- 193. Broeks A, Braaf L, Wessels L, van de Vijver M, De Bruin M, Stovall M et al (2010) Radiation-associated breast tumors display a distinct gene expression profile. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 76(2):540–547
- 194. Milano MT, Li H, Gail MH, Constine LS, Travis LB (2010) Long-term survival among patients with Hodgkin's lymphoma who developed breast cancer: a population-based study. J Clin Oncol 28(34):5088–5096
- 195. Dores GM, Anderson WF, Beane Freeman LE, Fraumeni JF Jr, Curtis RE (2010) Risk of breast cancer according to clinicopathologic features among long-term survivors of Hodgkin's lymphoma treated with radiotherapy. Br J Cancer 103(7):1081–1084
- 196. Elkin EB, Klem ML, Gonzales AM, Ishill NM, Hodgson D, Ng AK et al (2011) Characteristics and outcomes of breast cancer in women with and without a history of radiation for Hodgkin's lymphoma: a multi-institutional, matched cohort study. J Clin Oncol 29(18):2466–2473
- 197. Lorigan P, Radford J, Howell A, Thatcher N (2005) Lung cancer after treatment for Hodgkin's lymphoma: a systematic review. Lancet Oncol 6(10):773–779
- 198. Ibrahim E, Kazkaz G, Abouelkhair K, Al-Mansour M, Al-Fayea T, Al-Foheidi M et al (2013) Increased risk of second lung cancer in Hodgkin's lymphoma survivors: a meta-analysis. Lung 191(1):117–134
- 199. Kaldor JM, Day NE, Bell J, Clarke EA, Langmark F, Karjalainen S et al (1992) Lung cancer following Hodgkin's disease: a case-control study. Int J Cancer 52:677–681
- 200. NRCNA (2006) National research council of the national academies. Health risks from exposure to low levels of ionizing radiation. Beir VII phase, 2nd edn. The National Academies Press, Washington, DC
- 201. Wattson DA, Hunink MG, DiPiro PJ, Das P, Hodgson DC, Mauch PM, Ng AK (2014) Low-dose chest computed tomography for lung cancer screening among Hodgkin lymphoma survivors: a costeffectiveness analysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 90(2):344–353
- 202. Mulder RL, Kremer LCM, Hudson MM, Bhatia S, Landier W, Levitt G et al (2013) Recommendations for breast cancer surveillance for female survivors of childhood, adolescent, and young adult cancer given chest radiation: a report from the

International Late Effects of Childhood Cancer Guideline Harmonization Group. Lancet Oncol 14(13):e621–e629

- 203. Absolom K, Greenfield D, Ross R, Davies H, Hancock B, Eiser C (2007) Reassurance following breast screening recall for female survivors of Hodgkin's lymphoma. Breast 16(6):590–596
- 204. Bober SL, Park ER, Schmookler T, Medeiros Nancarrow C, Diller L (2007) Perceptions of breast cancer risk and cancer screening: a qualitative study of young, female Hodgkin's disease survivors. J Cancer Educ 22(1):42–46
- 205. Diller L, Medeiros Nancarrow C, Shaffer K, Matulonis U, Mauch P, Neuberg D et al (2002) Breast cancer screening in women previously treated for Hodgkin's disease: a prospective cohort study. J Clin Oncol 20(8):2085–2091
- 206. Oeffinger KC, Ford JS, Moskowitz CS, Diller LR, Hudson MM, Chou JF et al (2009) Breast cancer surveillance practices among women previously treated with chest radiation for a childhood cancer. JAMA 301(4):404–414
- 207. Ng AK, Garber JE, Diller LR, Birdwell RL, Feng Y, Neuberg DS et al (2013) Prospective study of the efficacy of breast magnetic resonance imaging and mammographic screening in survivors of Hodgkin lymphoma. J Clin Oncol 31(18):2282–2288
- 208. Tieu M, Cigsar C, Ahmed S, Ng A, Diller L, Crystal P et al (2014) Breast cancer detection among young survivors of pediatric Hodgkin lymphoma with screening magnetic resonance imaging. Cancer 120:2507–2013
- 209. Hodgson DC, Cotton C, Crystal P, Nathan PC (2016) Impact of early breast cancer screening on mortality among young survivors of childhood Hodgkin's lymphoma. J Natl Cancer Inst 108(7):PMID:26933010
- 210. Daly PE, Samiee S, Cino M, Gryfe R, Pollett A, Ng A et al (2017) High prevalence of adenomatous colorectal polyps in young cancer survivors treated with abdominal radiation therapy: results of a prospective trial. Gut 66(10):1797–1801
- 211. Rigter LS, Spaander MCW, Aleman BMP, Bisseling TM, Moons LM, Cats A et al (2019) High prevalence of advanced colorectal neoplasia and serrated polyposis syndrome in Hodgkin lymphoma survivors. Cancer 125(6):990–999
- 212. Abrams SA (2003) Using stable isotopes to assess the bioavailability of minerals in food-fortification programs. Forum Nutr 56:312–313
- 213. Hoppe RT, Hanlon AL, Hanks GE, Owen JB (1994) Progress in the treatment of Hodgkin's disease in the United States, 1973 versus 1983. The Patterns of Care Study. Cancer 74(12):3198–3203
- 214. Smitt M, Stouffer N, Owen J, Hoppe R, Hanks G (1999) Results of the 1988–1989 patterns of care study process survey for Hodgkin's disease. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 43(2):335–339
- 215. Engert A, Diehl V, Franklin J, Lohri A, Dorken B, Ludwig W et al (2009) Escalated-dose BEACOPP in the treatment of patients with advanced-stage Hodgkin's lymphoma: 10 years of follow-up of the GHSG HD9 Study. J Clin Oncol 27(27):4548–4554